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BEFORE THE 
SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

In the Matter of: 

RAILROAD COST OF CAPITAL 
2009 

Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 13) 

REPLY COMMENTS OF THE WESTERN COAL TRAFFIC LEAGUE 

Pursuant to the notice that the Surface Transportation Board ("STB" or 

"Board") served in the above-captioned proceeding on March 30, 2010 (the "Notice"), 

the Westem Coal Traffic League ("WCTL" or "League")' submits these reply comments 

in response to the comments that the Association of American Railroads and its member 

railroads ("AAR" or "Railroads") filed on May 17,2010. 

I. INTRODUCTION, SUMMARY, AND SCOPE 

WCTL's calculations relating to the determination ofthe railroad industry 

cost of capital for 2009 are presented in the Verified Statement of Thomas D. Crowley 

and Daniel L. Fapp ("Crowley/Fapp VS" or "Crowley/Fapp") that is attached as Exhibit 

'WCTL is a voluntary association, whose regular membership consists entirely of 
shippers of coal mined west ofthe Mississippi River that is transported by rail. WCTL 
members currently ship and receive in excess of 175 million tons of coal by rail each 
year. WCTL's members are: Ameren Energy Fuels and Services, Arizona Electric 
Power Cooperative, Inc., CLECO Corporation, Austin Energy (City of Austin, Texas), 
CPS Energy, Kansas City Power & Light Company, Lower Colorado River Authority, 
MidAmerican Energy Company, Miimesota Power, Nebraska Public Power District, 
Omaha Public Power District, Texas Municipal Power Agency, Westem Farmers Electric 
Cooperative, Westem Fuels Association, Inc., Wisconsin Public Service Corporation, and 
Xcel Energy. 



A and the associated workpapers. Specifically, the Crowley/Fapp VS addresses the 

calculation ofthe cost of equity ("COE") under both the Capital Asset Pricing Model 

("CAPM") and the Multi-Stage Discounted Cash Flow ("MSDCF") model, the cost of 

debt ("COD"), the equity debt ratio, and the overall cost of capital ("COC"), as well as 

some related matters utilizing the Board's current methodology. 

The following Table 1 compares the the calculations ofthe AAR and 

WCTL with respect to the key COC components: 

Table 1 
Comparison of AAR and Crowley/Fapp COC Calculations 

Item 

CAPM COE 

MSDCF COE 

Average COE 

Cost of Debt 

Equity/Debt Ratio 

Overall COC 

AAR 

11.39% 

13.46% 

12.43% 

5.72% 

70.90%/29.10% 

10.47% 

WCTL 

11.39% 

13.04% 

12.22% 

5.72% 

70.89%/29.11% 

10.33% 

Source: AAR Filing; Crowley/Fapp VS at 22. 

The Board's Notice specifically requested comments on whether BNSF 

Railway Company ("BNSF") should be retained n the calculation following the 

announcement that Berkshire Hathaway Inc. ("Berkshire") intended to acquire BNSF's 

shares. WCTL agrees that BNSF should be retained in the calculation for reasons 

explained in Crowley/Fapp at 23-26. 
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WCTL also agrees with the AAR that it would be appropriate to use 

geometric averaging in calculating the weekly risk-free rate of retum in the CAPM 

calculation, although the impact is apt to be negligible, as discussed in Crowley/Fapp at 

5. 

The issue of how to calculate the cost of capital in future years, when 

BNSF might no longer be considered in the analysis because it ceased to be publicly 

traded earlier in 2010, was not included in the Board's Notice. Nonetheless, Kansas City 

Southern ("KCS") filed conmients on the issue. WCTL does not believe that the issue is 

properly noticed or implicated in the 2009 cost of capital determination. Nonetheless, 

WCTL has asked Crowley/Fapp to address the issue out of an abundance of caution. 

Their comments opposing the KCS position are stated in Crowley/Fapp VS at 27-34. 

WCTL notes that the issue of how to value BNSF assets following the 

Berkshire acquisition was also not discussed in the Notice, and the matter was not 

addressed in any ofthe railroad comments (AAR, BNSF, and KCS). Accordingly, 

WCTL has not addressed the issue. 

WCTL does note that materials prepared by and for BNSF relating to 

Berkshire's acquisition ofBNSF do address the issue of BNSF's cost of capital and show 

figures lower than those utilized by the Board and consistent with those previously urged 

by WCTL. 

The matters discussed above are further addressed in these conmients and 

the Crowley/Fapp VS. 
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II. ERRORS IN AAR'S CALCULATIONS 

The Crowley/Fapp VS notes a few areas of disagreement with the AAR's 

cost of capital calculations. 

The first area of dispute relates to the AAR's determination to ignore the 

restatement of reported railroad financial figures that are utilized in the MSDCF 

calculation. The Board's MSDCF model uses five-years of normalized cashflows, e.g., 

the MSDCF calculation for 2009 uses 2005-2009 fiscal year financial/accounting data. 

However, firms, including the railroads, sometimes restate their financial/accounting data 

for past years, and such statements can alter the cashflows. BNSF/UP restated data for 

2005,2006,2007, and 2008, and CSX restated data for 2007 and 2008. Crowley/Fapp 

VS at 9. In other words, there are restatements in six (or 30%) ofthe twenty relevant sets 

of data (five years of data for four carriers), which is a significant percentage. While the 

AAR does not mention that there were any restatements or discuss their substance, the 

AAR maintains that the restatements should be ignored, indicating AAR's awareness of 

the restatements. See Verified Statement of John T. Gray ("Gray VS"), which 

accompanied the AAR comments, at 38. 

WCTL disagrees and submits that the restated data should be taken into 

accoimt. As explained in Crowley/Fapp VS at7-10, the restated information is relevant 

data that an efficient market would take into account in evaluating the firms, and there is 

no good reason to conclude that the information would be ignored. If the information is 
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sufficiently material that the firm concludes that it warrants or requires restatement, then 

it would seem difficult to conclude that the information is immaterial to investors and 

should be ignored in assessing investor expectations. Stated differently, an intelligent 

investor would not logically rely on inaccurate information when more accurate 

information is available. Yet, that is the import ofthe AAR's position. 

The AAR does not defend the accuracy ofits position directly. Instead, its 

position is either that it was done that way before or Momingstar/Ibbotson does it that 

way. Gray VS at 38. Neither claim is at all convincing. There is no indication that 

careful, or even casual, thought was given to the matter previously. The fact that a 

mistake or oversight was made before is a poor reason to perpetrate it. If 

Momingstar/Ibbotson actually does its calculations that way,' it would seem to represent 

a desire for administrative ease, that is, to avoid revisiting data that is already collected. 

But that is also a weak justification argument for intentionally relying on inaccurate 

information in a regulatory proceeding that has real consequences.̂  Furthermore, having 

done little to support its position on Opening, the AAR should not be allowed to 

introduce new arguments or support on Rebuttal. 

' The AAR is less than forthcoming on the point. The Momingstar/Ibbotson Cost of 
Capital Yearbook does not address whether it restates the data. The Stangle 2008 VS 
referenced by Mr. Gray also did not explicitly address the issue, but rather just used the 
10-K for each year ofthe five-year period. 

^ It may, however, be a reason for the Board to reexamine whether the 
Momingstar/Ibbotson methodology is an ideal model for the Board's altemate COE 
calculation. 
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The second area of disagreement relates to the selection of growth rates and 

involves two aspects. The first aspect is that the AAR somehow selected I/B/E/S growth 

rates from January 4,2010, four days after the close of 2009. The AAR does not disclose 

the basis for the selection, and one has to look far in its filing to find that the date of 

selection was not December 31,2009, even though the Gray VS at 39 notes that the STB 

made clear in STB Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 12), Railroad Cost of Capital - 2008 (STB 

served Sept. 25, 2009), that values should be selected as of December 31,2009, and the 

Gray VS at 39 states that "To comply with the preference ofthe Board stated in its cost of 

capital decision for 2008, growth rates from the end of 2009 (see Appendix L) have been 

utilized" (original emphasis). In fact, the values as of December 31,2009, are different 

from ~ and lower than ~ the values used by the AAR. The CAPM calculation seeks to 

determine investor expectations as of December 31,2009, and the growth rates should be 

the value as of that date. See Crowley/Fapp VS at 10-11. 

The second aspect ofthe growth rates is that the AAR Witness Mr. Gray 

sought to independently calculate the median value ofthe growth estimates for each 

railroad, rather than rely on the Thomson One I/B/E/S calculation. Gray VS at 39. This 

attempt to introduce the AAR's or Mr. Gray's personal judgment runs afoul ofthe 

Board's stated desire to rely on an independent, commercially-available data approach 

and also constitutes an attempt to override the Thompson quality control procedures. 

Crowley/Fapp VS at 12-15. Given the AAR's proclivity to select data that yields values 

that favor the railroads, there is ample reason to rely instead on the Thomson procedures, 

-7-



especially as Mr. Gray has not explained why his approach is superior. Accordingly, the 

figures presented by Crowley/Fapp are more credible and accurate, and they should be 

utilized. 

The third area of disagreement is that Mr. Gray misstated the value of 

BNSF's Equipment Tmst Certificates at $236.7 million at Table 6 of his VS and Table 8 

of his VS, but page 1 of Appendix C of his VS shows a correct value of $243 million. 

Using the correct figure does not materially impact the composite cost of debt, but it does 

alter the equity/debt ratio. See Crowley/Fapp VS at 17-18,20-21. 

The cumulative impact of these corrections is shown on Table 1, supra. 

III. INCLUSION OF BNSF IN COST OF CAPITALCALCULATION 

Crowley/Fapp at 23-25 explain why BNSF should be included in the 2009 

cost of capital calculations. Briefly stated, BNSF continued to meet all the criteria after 

the planned Berkshire acquisition was armounced, the announcement affected the stock of 

all the railroads, not just BNSF, and the impact ofthe armouncement cannot be isolated 

from other factors. 

However, WCTL disagrees with Mr. Gray's claim that BNSF was not 

acquired at an acquisition premium. Acquisition premiums are a recognized concept in 

such situations, and the price paid by Berkshire was at a substantial premium to the price 

prevailing at the time ofthe announcement. See Crowley/Fapp VS at 25-26. 
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IV. EXPANSION OF THE COST OF CAPITAL COMPOSITE GROUP 

Crowley/Fapp at 27-34 explain why the cost of capital composite group 

should not be expanded to include KCS, Canadian National, or Canadian Pacific. Simply 

stated, they do not reflect predominately United States rail operations. 

V. COST OF CAPITAL DATA FROM THE BERKSHIRE BNSF TRANSACTION 

WCTL has previously commented that the Board's COE methodology, 

especially its MSDCF methodology as applied, yields COE values that are overstated 

relative to those conmionly used by the investment community. WCTL recognizes that 

such matters are not strictly within the scope ofthe Notice, at least as the Board has 

interpreted its notices in the past. Nonetheless, WCTL believes that a pmdent and 

responsible agency would retain an ongoing interest in the accuracy and reasonableness 

ofits chosen methodology. 

In that regard, WCLT directs attention to the Form S-4 that Berkshire filed 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 25,2009, in conjunction 

with its proposed acquisition ofBNSF.^ The S-4 states that BNSF's Board of Directors 

retained Goldman Sachs and Evercore "as financial advisors in connection with the 

evaluation ofthe transaction" and that the two firms both delivered opinions finding that 

the transaction was fair to BNSF shareholders. See S-4 at 36-73 and Appendices C and 

D. 

^ The document is available at http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/ 
1067983/000119312509242246/ds4.htm. 
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The S-4 states that Goldman Sachs performed valuation analyses "using 

discount rates ranging from 8% - 12%, reflecting estimates of BNSF's cost of equity," 

"discount rates ranging fi-om 7.0% to 11.0%, reflecting estimates of BNSF's weighted 

average cost of capital," and "discount rates ranging from 7.0% to 11.0%, but using 

terminal values based on a perpetuity growth rate ranging from 1.5% to 3.5%." Id. at 47-

48. The S-4 also reports that Evercore used "discount rates ranging from 8.0% to 10.0%" 

reflecting "among other things, a weighted average cost of capital calculation" and 

"discount rates of 10.0% to 12.0%" reflecting "among other things, a cost of equity 

calculation." Id. at 59. 

The Goldman Sachs and Evercore analyses thus reflect median COE values 

of 10% (Goldman Sachs) and 11% (Evercore) and median overall COC values of 9% 

(both Goldman Sachs and Evercore). These values are considerably lower than those 

calculated under the Board's methodology, particularly the MSDCF and hybrid 

approaches. The analyses reinforce WCTL's prior view as to the unreasonableness ofthe 

Board's methodology, especially the MSDCF component with the particular inputs and 

procedures recommended by the AAR and adopted by the Board. The discrepancy ought 

to be of concem to the Board, especially insofar as it purports to be measuring investor 

expectations. 

VI. AAR WORKPAPER ISSUES 

WCTL reluctantly raises another matter relating to the use and production 

of workpapers in this proceeding. 
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To assist in its review of and comment upon the AAR's Opening filing, 

WCTL sought to obtain electronic workpapers from the AAR, especially the Excel 

spreadsheets used to make calculations. The AAR provided a scanned hardcopy ofits 

workpapers relatively quickly, later provided a computer-generated (electronically 

searchable) pdf of those workpapers, and still later provided some Excel spreadsheets. 

However, the AAR never provided Excel spreadsheets for some items, including the cost 

of debt and the MSDCF calculations. When WCTL inquired as to the matter, the AAR 

indicated that production ofthe items was inappropriate because of (a) the burden of 

producing the spreadsheets, (b) the materials involved proprietary data, (c) WCTL was 

asking AAR to do work that WCTL could just as easily do itself, or (d) some 

combination ofthe above. 

WCTL respectfully, but strongly, disagrees with the AAR's position. 

Calculation ofthe cost of capital is necessarily a computational exercise. AAR's refusal 

to make its calculations available unquestionably makes review more difficult; indeed, 

that seems to be the AAR's motive for not producing the spreadsheets. WCTL's view is 

that the AAR should be required to submit the spreadsheets as part ofits filing to the 

Board, as the Board caimot really verify the AAR's calculations otherwise, or would 

require inordinate time to do so. The AAR's claims of burden are makeweight, as the 

effort to select and copy the files and then include them in an email is negligible and is 

likely done anyway for other purposes. Insofar as the spreadsheets involve links to 

proprietary databases, forwarding the spreadsheets without the proprietary files will sever 
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the links anyway, thereby protecting the databases. Furthermore, the fact that the AAR is 

able to prepare the spreadsheets from data that it or its member maintain (what the AAR 

calls proprietary data), apparently for other purposes, demonstrates that WCTL and other 

members ofthe public would face greater burdens than the AAR in assembling the data. 

In short, none ofthe AAR's stated justifications for failing to produce the spreadsheets 

are persuasive in the least. 

Beyond that, there is something offensive in the AAR's apparent position. 

The Board's established procedure is that the railroads submit the opening data. That 

procedure is appropriate because the railroads have superior access to the relevant 

information and superior resources or at least a more vital interest in the outcome. For 

the railroads then to seek to conceal their analysis or impede review is inappropriate. 

Indeed, the Board requires that spreadsheets be produced in some other proceedings. 

There is no good reason why the cost of capital proceedings should be any different. 

WCTL adds that it is willing to provide its spreadsheets to the Board and to other parties, 

and, in fact, has done so in past cost of capital proceedings. 

Accordingly, the AAR should be required to submit its electronic 

spreadsheets, or at least make them available to other parties when requested. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the Board should adopt the cost of capital 

calculations presented in the Crowley/Fapp VS. BNSF should be included in the 

calculation for 2009. The AAR should be required to produce its electronic workpapers. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

We are Thomas D. Crowley and Daniel L. Fapp. We are economists and, 

respectively, the President and a Vice President of L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc., an 

economic consulting firm that specializes in solving economic, transportation, marketing, 

financial, accounting and fuel supply problems. Mr. Crowley has spent most of his 

consulting career of over thirty-nine (39) years evaluating fuel supply issues and railroad 

operations, including railroad costs, prices, financing, capacity and equipment planning 

issues. His assignments in these matters were commissioned by railroads, producers, 

shippers of different commodities, and government departments and agencies. A copy of 

his credentials is included as Exhibit No. 1 to this Verified Statement ("VS"). 

Mr. Fapp has been with L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc. since 1997. During this 

time, he has worked on numerous projects dealing with railroad revenue, operational, 

economic and financial issues. Prior to joining L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc., Mr. 

Fapp was employed by BHP Copper Inc. in the role of Transportation Manager - Finance 

and Administration, where he also served as an officer and Treasurer of the three BHP 

Copper Inc. subsidiary railroads. Mr. Fapp has also served as a guest lecturer in graduate 

level finance and economics classes discussing corporate capital theory and costs of 

equity determination. A copy of his credentials is included as Exhibit No. 2 to this VS. 

Our consulting assignments regularly involve working with and determining 

various facets of railroad financial issues, including cost of capital determinations. In 

these assignments, we have calculated railroad capital structures, market values, cost of 

railroad debt, cost of preferred railroad equity and common railroad equity. We are also 

well acquainted with and have used the commonly accepted models for determining a 
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firm's cost of equity, including Single-Stage Discoimted Cash Flow Models ("SS-DCF"), 

Multi-stage Discounted Cash Flow Models ("MS-DCF"), the Capital Asset Pricing 

Model ("CAPM"), and the Fama-French Three Factor Model. 

We have developed railroad industry average cost of capital and company specific 

cost of capital for use in litigation and for use in general business management. For 

several clients, we have both individually and together determined the Going Concem 

Value ("GCV") of privately held railroads. Developing the GCV under the Income 

Based Methodology requires developing company specific costs of debt and equity for 

use in discoimting future company cash flows, as well as creating forecasts of expected 

cash flows to the firm and to holders of common equity from company financial 

statements. We have also developed cost of capital in order to capture the costs 

associated with shipper investment in railroad equipment and road property. Our 

findings regarding railroad cost of capital have been presented to U.S. District and State 

courts, the Interstate Commerce Commission, the Surface Transportation Board ("STB") 

and the Federal Railroad Administration. 

We have previously submitted, either individually or jointly, verified statements 

in prior STB aimual cost of capital proceedings, including Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 9), 

Railroad Cost of Capital - 2005. Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 10), Railroad Cost of 

Capital - 2006 {"2006 Cost ofCapitar), Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 11), Railroad Cost 

of Capital - 2007 {"2007 Cost ofCapitar) and Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 12), Railroad 

Cost of Capital - 2008 {"2008 Cost ofCapitar). We have also submitted evidence in 

Ex Parte No. 664, Methodology To Be Employed In Determining The Railroad Industry's 

Cost Of Capital {"Ex Parte 664"), and Ex Parte No. 664 (Sub-No. 1), Use Of A Multi-



Stage Discounted Cashflow Model In Determining The Railroad Industry's Cost Of 

Capital {"MS-DCF Cost of Equity"). 

We have been requested by Counsel for the Westem Coal Traffic League 

("WCTL") to review the testimony submitted by Mr. John T. Gray ("Gray") included 

with the Association of American Railroads' ("AAR") Opening Evidence filed pursuant 

to the Surface Transportation Board's ("STB") Decision in Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 

13), Railroad Cost Of Capital - 2009, served March 30, 2010 {"2009 Cost ofCapitar), 

and the Comments of the Kansas City Southern Railway Company ("KCS") and BNSF 

Railway Company ("BNSF"). Counsel has specifically requested that we review and 

comment on Mr. Gray's calculation of the railroad industry's CAPM cost of equity, 

calculation ofthe railroad industry's MS-DCF cost of equity and overall railroad industry 

cost of capital, on Mr. Gray's and BNSF's comments regarding the inclusion of the 

BNSF in the 2009 cost of capital composite group, and KCS' comments on expanding 

the composite group for the 2010 railroad cost of capital proceedings. 

Our testimony is discussed further below imder the following topical headings: 

II. CAPM Cost Of Equity 

III. MS-DCF Cost Of Equity 

IV. Railroad Cost Of Debt 

V. Railroad Cost Of Capital 

VI. Inclusion Of The BNSF In The 2009 Cost Of Capital Calculation 

VII. Expansion Of The Cost Of Capital Composite Group 



II. CAPM COST OF EQUITY 

In its decision in Ex Parte 664, the STB modified the procedure used to estimate 

the railroad cost of equity by switching from the SS-DCF cost of equity approach to the 

widely accepted CAPM approach. The STB's Ex Parte 664 procedures directed parties 

to calculate the CAPM cost of equity using three specific inputs: 

1. The average annual yield-to-maturity on 20-Year Treasury Bonds ("T-
Bonds"); 

2. A beta estimate developed by regressing over five (5) years excess returns on 
a market weighted portfolio of railroad stocks against excess returns on the 
S&P 500 Price Retum Index over 3-Month Treasury Bill ("T-Bill"); and 

3. An estimate ofthe market risk premium based on the historical average equity 
market risk premium from 1926 to the subject year. 

Moreover, the STB's 2008 Cost of Capital decision clarified the identification of 

trading weeks and trading years to be used in the 5-year beta estimate regression.' Rather 

than assuming a trading year would consist of a static 52-trading week period, the STB 

clarified that the first trading week within a particular year would be the first week in a 

year that contains three (3) or more trading days. As such, a trading year within the beta 

estimation regression could consist of 53-trading weeks. 

We have reviewed Mr. Gray's inputs and agree that the T-Bond yield-to-maturity 

of 4.11 percent and average market risk premium from 1926 to 2009 of 6.67 percent are 

consistent with the STB's CAPM cost of equity methodology. We also concur with his 

composite railroad industry equity beta estimate of 1.0915. The calculation ofthe 2009 

CAPM cost of equity is shown in Table 1 below. 

See 2008 Cost of Capital at 7. 



Table 1 
2009 CAPM Cost Of Equity 

Item 
(1) 

L Risk Free Rate-
2. Beta ^ 
3. Market Risk Premium -

4. CostofEquity-

i'GrayVSatZS. 

^GrayVSat33. 

^GrayVSat29. 
- Line 1 + (Line 2 x Line 3). 

2009 CAPM 
Cost Of Equity 

(2) 

4.11% 
1.0915 
6.67% 

11.39% 

As shown in Table 1 above, the 2009 CAPM cost of equity equals 11.39%. 

Mr. Gray also discusses the STB's methodology for converting annual T-Bill 

yields to weekly yields by dividing the annual retum by 52.̂  As Mr. Gray notes, in our 

2007 Cost of Capital evidence, we, along with Mr. Gray, converted annual T-Bill yields 

to weekly yields using a geometric approach rather than an arithmetic approach. Based 

on our prior experiences in developing beta estimates, we have always used a geometric 

approach in converting annual risk-free rates of returns to daily, weekly or monthly 

returns, as required by the time period used in the analysis, as this accounts for the 

compounding nature of interest. The difference in using an arithmetic or geometric 

approach is so small in this proceeding that either approach produces virtually the same 

final result. 

See Gray VS at 32. 
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III. MS-DCF COST OF EQUITY 

The STB mled in its MS-DCF Cost of Equity decision that the railroad industry 

cost of equity after the 2007 determination would be calculated as the simple average of 

the railroad industry CAPM cost of equity and the railroad industry MS-DCF cost of 

equity as calculated using the Momingstar/Ibbotson MS-DCF model as modified to 

reflect only qualifying railroad holding companies, e.g., BNSF, CSX Corporation 

("CSX"), Norfolk Southern Coiporation ("NS"), and Union Pacific Corporation ("UP").̂  

A MS-DCF model calculates the cost of equity by determining the discount rate that 

equates a firm's market value to the present value ofthe stream of cash flows that could 

impact an investor. The Momingstar/Ibbotson model adopted by the STB defines cash 

flows, for the first two stages of the model, as income before extraordinary items, plus 

depreciation and deferred taxes, and minus capital expenditures.̂  Cash flows are then 

normalized over a five (5) year period to mitigate the impact of potentially anomalous 

years. Total cash flows over the five (5) year period are then divided by total sales over 

the same period to develop an average cash flow-to-sales ratio, which is then multiplied 

by the analysis year's revenues to obtain the average cashflow estimate for the year. For 

the third and final model stage, the Momingstar/Ibbotson model utilizes normalized 

eamings before extraordinary items as a surrogate for perpetual cashflows under the 

assumption that over the long-term capital expenditures will equal depreciation and 

deferred taxes are zero. 

We have reviewed the MS-DCF cost of equity estimates developed by Mr. Gray, 

and accept, for present purposes, his estimate ofthe long-term nominal growth rate in the 

^ See MS-DCF Cost of Equity at 15. 
* See MS-DCF Cost of Equity at S to 6 for a summary ofthe Momingstar/Ibbotson MS-DCF model. 



U.S. economy, the formulas he used in the iterative process to calculate each railroad's 

estimated cost of equity, his calculation of each railroad's equity market value, and the 

weighting methodology used to develop the industry average cost of equity. However, 

we disagree with Mr. Gray's calculation of each railroad's normalized cashflows, and his 

application ofthe Institutional Broker's Estimating System ("IBES") growth rates. We 

discuss each of these issues below. 

A. NORMALIZED 
CASH FLOWS 

The Momingstar/Ibbotson MS-DCF model defines cash flows, for the first two 

stages, as income before extraordinary items ("IBEI"), minus capital expenditures 

("CAPEX"), plus depreciation and deferred taxes.̂  While the MS-DCF Cost of Equity 

decision was silent on the source of the cash flow calculation data inputs, the STB 

accepted in its 2008 Cost of Capital decision the data inputs retrieved fh)m the railroads' 

annual Form 10-K filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").̂  

Mr. Gray states that his cash flow calculations were calculated using the same 

procedures used by the AAR for the 2008 cost of capital determination. Specifically, Mr. 

Gray states that 2009 railroad SEC Form 10-K were the sources for 2009 cash flow data 

statistics.̂  For the 2005 to 2008 statistics used in the normalized cash flow calculations, 

Mr. Gray states he relied upon the same statistics for those years as used in the 2008 MS­

DCF cost of equity determination. Mr. Gray notes "In any cases where a railroad has 

^ See MS-DCF Cost of Equity at 5. Cash flow in the third stage ofthe model is based on two assumptions. 
First, that CAPEX will equal depreciation in the long run, and second, deferred taxes will be zero (0). 
Stated differently, cash flow in die third stage is based solely on IBEI. 

* See 2008 Cost of Capital at 9. 
^ See Gray VS at 38. The railroad companies within the composite group all filed their Form 10-K Annual 
Reports for fiscal year 2009 in the first quarter 2010. When discussing the years for the Form 10-K, we 
are referencing the fiscal year the annual report covers and not the year it was filed with the SEC. 
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restated prior year's data, original data were used in the model instead of revised data, 

following the Ibbotson procedure that was used in Dr. Stangle's 2008 cash flow 

calculations."* 

We disagree with Mr. Gray's use of original 2005 to 2008 financial data 

instead of restated and updated data presented in more recent financial reports. Finance 

theory holds that, at any particular time, a firm's stock price incorporates all historic price 

information, as well as all current publicly available information. In other words, under 

the theory of efficient markets, prices at any given point in time impound all available 

information about the value ofthe security.' 

In his MS-DCF cost of equity calculation, Mr. Gray used 2009 stock price data 

and financial statement data from original (non-restated) 2005-2008 financial statements. 

If markets are efficient though, as the STB has repeatedly held them to be, this creates an 

inconsistency in the method of calculation. Using the current stock price data assumes 

that all publicly available and historical information is incorporated in the stock price. 

The 2005-2008 financial data, when it was released, was held as most correct and up to 

date. However, any restated or corrected financial information that was released after the 

original publication of these financial statements is now what is implicitly embedded in 

the current stock prices, and is what should be used in calculating the MS-DCF cost of 

equity. 

* See Gray VS at 38. 
' See, for example, Fama, E.F., "Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work," 

The Journal of Finance, Vol. 25, No. 2, May 1970, pages 383-417, and Fama, E.F., "Efficient Capital 
Markets: II," Hie Journal of Finance, Vol. 46, No. 5, December 1991, pages 1575-1617. Also see, 
Brealey, R. A., Myers, S. C , and Allen, F., "Principles of Corporate Finance, Eighth Edition," McGraw-
Hill Irwin, 2006, pages 333-354 ("Brealey, Myers and Allen") and Brigham, E.F., & Ehrhardt, M. C. 
"Financial Management: Theory and Practice" (12th ed.). South-Westem Cengage Leaming., 2008, 
pages 301-302. 
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To include the most current publicly information available, we relied upon the 

most current audited financial statements for each year. For the 2007 to 2009 time 

period, this reflects the financial statistics shown in the railroads' fiscal year 2009 SEC 

Form 10-K. Each ofthe railroads' SEC Form 10-K included the current year's financial 

statements and any restatements for the prior two years. For example, the 2009 financials 

include any restated financial statements for 2008 and 2007. Because the railroads update 

their financial statements on a rolling basis, the most current 2006 financial information 

is fotmd in each railroad's 2008 SEC Form 10-K. In a similar fashion, the railroads' 

2007 SEC Form 10-K include the most current financial information for 2005.'° 

Comparing the railroads' most current and historic financial statements shows that 

both BNSF and CSX have restated several financial records between 2005 and 2008. 

BNSF's 2007 and 2008 10-K show the railroad restated 2005 and 2006 net income, 

depreciation and deferred taxes, while BNSF's 2009 10-K indicates BNSF restated its 

2007 and 2008 CAPEX statistics." Similarly, CSX's 2009 10-K reflect the railroad's 

restating charges related to discontinued operations that impact the calculation of IBEI. 

Exhibit No. 3 to this VS compares BNSF's and CSX's original financial statistics as used 

by Mr. Gray and the restated statistics shown by the two railroads. 

We can assume based on eflicient market theory that the restated financial 

statements data has been impoimded in the current stock price, as the restated data has 

been released to the public domain. Therefore, using the original financial statements 

and the current stock price creates an inconsistency in the method used to calculate the 

'° A possibility exists that a railroad would want or need to restate results from some earlier year. In that 
event, it might expand the range of years included in a report. 

" Mr. Gray's workpapers show he calculated BNSF's 2009 CAPEX by summing BNSF's reported 
"Capital expenditures excluding equipment" and "Acquisition of equipmenf statistics from BNSF's 
2009 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Summing the 2007 and 2008 statistics from the BNSF's 
2009 10-K produces different CAPEX figures than presented in the 2007 and 2008 lO-K used by Mr. 
Gray. 
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cost of equity. Because the 2005-2008 data has been restated and is publicly available, it 

should be used when calculating the MS-DCF, which would eliminate the inconsistency 

in the calculation. Stated differently, a rational investor would not logically rely on dated 

information that the company has determined is sufficiently accurate that it needs to be 

restated. 

B. CORRECT 

GROWTH RATES 

As indicated by the STB in its 2008 Cost of Capital decision, the 

Momingstar/Ibbotson model adjusts eamings in three stages.'^ In the first stage (years 1 

to 5), a firm's annual eamings growth is assumed to be the median value ofthe qualifying 

railroad's 3 to 5 year growth estimates as determined by railroad industry analysts and 

published by IBES. In the second stage (years 6 to 10), the growth rate is the average of 

all growth rates in stage 1. In stage 3 (years 11 and onwards), the growth is the long-nm 

nominal growth rate ofthe U.S. economy, and is estimated by using historical growth in 

real GDP and the long-mn expected inflation rate. The STB specified in its 2008 Cost of 

Capital decision that growth rates should be as of December 31 ofthe subject year. 

Mr. Gray states that he obtained each railroad's long-term growth rates from 

Thomson Financial through its Thompson ONE Investment Management Service 

("Thomson ONE").'̂  He also states that while Thomson ONE distributes medians ofthe 

IBES growth rates, he did not use the Thomson ONE values because they do not always 

reflect the full set of growth rates.''' Instead, Mr. Gray calculated his own median value 

" See 2008 Cost of Capital at 9. 
" See Gray VS at 39. 
'"See Gray VS at 39. 
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for each railroad's growth rate. For the long-term median growth rate in the economy, 

Mr. Gray used an estimate of 5.8 percent as published by Momingstar.'̂  

While we accept, for present purposes, Mr. Gray's use of the unadjusted 

Momingstar calculation of the long-term median growth rate in the U.S. economy, we 

disagree with his calculation of the railroads' median long-term growth rates. First, Mr. 

Gray obtained growth estimates four days after the close ofthe year. Second, the median 

IBES growth rate values as reported by Thomson are independent estimates that have 

been scmtinized and verified for consistency by neutral third-party researchers, and 

require no adjustment. We discuss both issues below. 

1. Growth Rates 
Should Reflect 
December 31 Values 

As Mr. Gray noted at page 39 of his VS, "In Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub No 12), the 

STB clarified their [sic] interpretation of the Momingstar/Ibbotson MSDCF model by 

specifying December 31 dates for growth rates, stock prices, and stock shares 

outstanding." Appendix L of his VS shows, however, that Mr. Gray obtained his 

estimates on January 4, 2010, four days after the close of 2009. 

While seemingly trivial, the date and timing ofthe availability ofthe information 

is critical when dealing with stock price information. As we indicate above, stock price 

information incorporates all publicly known information, including information on long-

term growth estimates. Publication of an eamings estimate after the close of the issue 

year would not be reflected in the year-end stock price. 

'* See Gray VS at 40 and 41. 
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2. Unadjusted IBES 
Median Values 
Should Be Used 

Mr. Gray states that he independently calculated the median value of each 

railroad's growth estimates because the Thomson One banker service does not always 

reflect the full set of growth rate estimates. We have two issues with Mr. Gray's 

approach. First, it deviates from the STB's desire ofthe use of a commercially accepted, 

neutral model that is not made for litigation or regulation. Second, it circumvents the 

quality control standards IBES includes in its estimates. 

In selecting the Momingstar/Ibbotson model as the MS-DCF model used to 

calculate the railroad industry cost of equity, the STB stated that it choose the model in 

large part due to its wide use in other industries and neutral approach. 

Finally, the Momingstar/Ibbotson model is a commercially 
accepted multi-stage DCF model. It was developed by 
disinterested, respected third parties and created for use by the 
financial community in evaluating publicly traded equities and 
in making real-world investment decisions. It was not 
developed as a tool for litigation or advocacy, and the same 
model is used by Momingstar to estimate the cost of equity for 
hundreds of different industries. '̂  

The STB clearly desired an approach that relied as much as possible on neutral, 

third party inputs, and not a methodology that could be manipulated towards any single 

party. The use ofthe unadjusted IBES median values meets this goal. The IBES median 

value calculations are developed by a disinterested respected third party without a stake 

in the cost of capital proceeding. Moreover, the IBES median estimates were not 

developed as a tool for litigation or advocacy, but instead provided in the normal course 

16 See MS-DCF Cost of Equity, Notice of Proposed Rule Making at 5 and 6. 
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of business by Thomson as part ofits standard IBES report. Simply stated, it is a neutral 

input that has not been manipulated for use in this proceeding. 

In addition, adjusting the calculated IBES median value circumvents the 

quality control standards Thomson uses to ensure quality financial statistics. In 

describing why organizations choose to use IBES data and calculations, Thomson states 

it is in large part due to the extensive quality control measures in place to ensure the 

highest quality data: 

Why Choose I/B/E/S? 

• Proactive Enhancements: Thomson Reuters works 
closely with our contributors and clients to stay ahead of 
new content offerings and changes in regional accounting 
requirements, such as FAS 123(R) in the US and IFRS in 
Europe and Asia. 

• Oualitv Control: Thomson Reuters reviews all estimates 
according to rigorous quality control measures, both pre-
and post-product quality reviews. Quality checks 
incorporate automated algorithms such as standard 
deviation, percentage difference fijom the previous, and 
number of revisions in a short time period. Monthly 
audits show accuracy levels greater than 99.9%. 

• Comparability: Mean estimates only include estimates on 
the same accounting basis for apples-to-apples 
comparisons.'̂  

Using anything other than the median values prepared by Thomson and reported 

in its IBES database would circumyent the quality control standards imputed into the 

median value calculations developed by Thomson. The above information from the 

Thomson website indicates Thomson goes to great efforts to evaluate and validate the 

" See Thomson Reuters I/B/E/S website at 
http://thomsonreuters.coin/products_services/financial/fmancial_products/products_az/ibes. 

http://thomsonreuters.coin/products_services/financial/fmancial_products/products_az/ibes
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data it reports. If Thomson excludes an estimate fiom its calculations, it is clear it has a 

valid reason to do so. 

3. Corrected 
Growth Rates 

In place ofthe median long-term growth estimates developed for this proceeding 

by Mr. Gray, we have utilized the median IBES consensus growth rates as reported by 

Thomson on December 31, 2009.'* The use of this data corrects for the two primary 

shortcomings of Mr. Gray's approach. First, it reports the median consensus forecasts for 

each company at the end ofthe issue year and not four days into the next year. Second, it 

is extracted directly from Thomson's dataset without manipulation or circumvention of 

Thomson's quality confrols. 

Table 2 below compares the median values as reported directly by Thomson from 

its IBES database and the median values calculated by Mr. Gray. 

'̂  Copies ofthe downloaded data are contained in our workpapers. The data was downloaded directly from 
Thomson via a proprietary reporting platform at the investment-banking firm of Goldman Sachs. 
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ComDarison 

Railroad 
(1) 

l.BNSF 
2. CSX 
3.NS 
4. UP 
5. Average 

Table 2 
of I/B/E/S Lone-Term Earnines Growth Rates 1 

December 31,2009 
I/B/E/S Median 
Growth Rates ^ 

(2) 

9.55% 
11.55% 
12.00% 
13.10% 
11.55% 

- Source: Thomson IBES. 
- Source: Gray VS at 40. 

January 4,2010 
Gray Median 

Growth Rates-
(3) 

12.00% 
11.60% 
12.00% 
13.10% 
12.18% 

As shown in Table 2 above, the railroad median growth rates developed by Mr. 

Gray are the same as the median IBES growth rates reported by Thomson for only two 

railroads, the NS and the UP, while the unadjusted IBES growth rates developed by 

Thomson for BNSF and CSX are lower than those calculated by Mr. Gray. In addition, 

the simple average of the four median growth rates, which is used in the second stage of 

the Momingstar/Ibbotson model, is lower by 63 basis points. 

C. MS-DCF COST 
OF EOUITY 

Based on the corrections to the cashflow calculations and growth rates discussed 

above, we have restated the MS-DCF cost of equity. We show the restated MS-DCF 

models in Exhibit No. 4 to this VS and summarize the results in Table 3 below. 
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Railroad 
(1) 

1. BNSF 
2. CSX 
3.NS 
4. UP 
5. Total ̂  

Tables 
2009 MS-DCF Cost of Equity 

2009 Cost 
of Equity 1' 

(2) 

11.96% 
13.49% 
14.69% 
12.90% 

-' Source: Exhibit No. 4. 
^ Column (2) x Column (3). 
^ Sums of Lines 1 to 4. 

2009 Equity 
Weieht^' 

(3) 

32.24% 
18.28% 
18.52% 
30.96% 
100.0% 

2009 Weighted 
Cost of Equity'' 

(4) 

3.86% 
2.47% 
2.72% 
3.99% 
13.04% 

As shown in Table 3 above, the 2009 MS-DCF cost of equity is 13.04%. 
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IV. RAILROAD COST OF DEBT 

We have reviewed Mr. Gray's calculation of the railroad industry cost of debt, 

and concur that he calculated the cost of debt in a manner consistent with prior railroad 

cost of capital proceedings in all matters, except for his calculation ofthe market value of 

equipment tmst certificates ("ETC"). 

Table 6 of Mr. Gray's VS indicates the market value of BNSF's ETC equals 

$236.7 million." Mr. Gray includes this figure as part of his estimation ofthe market 

value of all railroad industry debt shown in Table 8 of his VS, and his calculation ofthe 

railroad industry's total modeled debt used to estimate the railroad industry composite 

cost of debt shown in Table 11 of his VS.̂ " However, page 1 of Appendix C to Mr. 

Gray's VS shows that he estimated the market value of BNSF's ETC to equal $243.0 

million. Correcting for this technical error does not materially impact the composite cost 

of debt calculated by Mr. Gray due to the STB's practice of rotmding the cost of debt to 

two decimal places. 

Table 4 below contains the corrected market values of market industry debt. 

" See Gray VS at 14. 
'" See Gray VS at 18 and 23. 
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Table4 
2009 Debt Market Value 

Type of Debt 
(1) 

1. Bonds, Notes and Debentures 
2. Equipment Trust Certificates 
3. Conditional Sales Agreements 
4. All Other Debt 

4. Total ^ 

- Source: Gray VS at 18 
^ExhibitNo. 5. 
* Sum of Lines 1 to 4. 

Gray's Corrected 
Calculations Calculations 
(thousands) - fthousandsl -

(2) 

$29,547,506 
708,061 
43,349 

3.919.014 

(3) 

$29,547,506 
714,381 
43,349 

3.919.014 

$34,217,930 $34,224,250 

As shown in Table 4 above, correcting the value in BNSF's ETC increases the 

total market value of railroad debt by $6.32 million. As indicated above, it has no 

material impact on the composite cost of debt. 
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V. RAILROAD COST OF CAPITAL 

Based on the corrections to the MS-DCF cost of equity and the market value of 

railroad industry debt, we have restated the 2009 cost of capital developed by Mr. Gray. 

We discuss our restatement below. 

A. COST OF 
EOUITY 

As we discussed above, we made corrections to Mr. Gray's MS-DCF cost of 

equity. Table 5 below shows the development ofthe 2009 average cost of equity based 

on our corrections. 

Table 5 
2009 Average Cost of Equity 

Item 
(1) 

1. CAPM Cost of Equity i' 
2. MS-DCF Cost of Equity -
3. Average Cost of Equity -

i' Gray VS at 35. 
-Exhibit No. 4. 
^ Simple Average of Lines 1 and 2. 

2009 Average 
Cost Of Equity 

(2) 

11.39% 
13.04% 
12.22% 

As shown in Table 5 above, the 2009 average cost of railroad equity equals 

12.22%. 
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B. COST OF 
DEBT 

As discussed above, we have corrected the market value of BNSF's ETC to 

reflect the value shown in Mr. Gray's workpapers. Making this correction increases the 

total market value of railroad industry debt, but has no material impact on the composite 

cost of railroad debt. We therefore use Mr. Gray's estimate of 5.72 percent for the 

railroad industry cost of debt. 

C. COST OF 
PREFERRED EOUITY 

As noted by Mr. Gray, the railroads included in the 2009 composite group had no 

preferred equity outstanding at the end ofthe year. Therefore, we have included no cost 

for preferred equity in our restated cost of capital, and assigned preferred equity a market 

value of zero ($0). 

D. CAPITAL 
STRUCTURE 

In developing his calculation ofthe 2009 market value ofcommon equity, 

Mr. Gray used the stock price and common shares outstanding data for the 52-week 

period beginning the week of January 5, 2009 and ending the week of December 28, 

2009.̂ ^ We have reviewed Mr. Gray's calculations and agree with his equity market 

value. 

As discussed above, we found a technical error in Mr. Gray's calculation of the 

market value of railroad industry debt, which leads to a slight understatement. Table 6 

below shows our restated 2009 railroad industry capital stmcture. 

'̂ See Gray VS at 47 and 48. 
^ See Gray VS at Appendix H, Page 5 of 5. 
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Tabled 1 
2009 Railroad Industry Caoital Structure 1 

RaUroad 
(1) 

1. Common Equity -
2. Debt 2̂  
3. Preferred Equity 

4. Total* 

Market 
Value 

fthousands) 
(2) 

$83,349,876 
$34,224,250 

$0 

$117,574,126 

- Line 1 to 4, Column (2) divided by Line 
-GrayVSat48. 
2'Table 4. 
- Sum of Lines 1 to 3. 

Capital 
Structure 
Weight i' 

(3) 

70.89% 
29.11% 

0% 

100.0% 

4, Column (2) 

As shown in Table 6 above, the 2009 railroad industry capital stmcture is 70.89% 

common equity capital, 29.11% debt capital, and 0.0% preferred equity capital. 

E. COST OF 
CAPITAL 

Based on the restated cost of equity, assumed cost of debt and restated capital 

stmcture discussed above, we have restated the 2009 railroad industry cost of capital as 

shown in Table 7 below. 
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Table 7 
2009 Cost of CaEitol 

Item 
(1) 

1. Weighted Cost of Equity 
a. Railroad Industry Cost of Equity -
b. Common Equity Portion of Capital Structure -
c. Weighted Cost of Raih-oad Industry Common Equity -

2. Weighted Cost of Debt 
a. Railroad Industry Cost of Debt -
b. Debt Portion of Capital Structure -
c. Weighted Cost of Railroad Industry Debt -

3. Weighted Cost of Preferred Equity -
a. Railroad Industry Cost of Debt 
b. Debt Portion of Capital Structure 
c. Weighted Cost of Railroad Industry Debt 

4. Railroad Industry Weighted Cost of Capital -

i'Table 5. 
^ Table 6. 
^ Line la x Line lb. 
*'GrayVSat23. 
^ Line 2a x Line 2b. 
- The raihoads included in this analysis had no preferred equity issued in 2009. 
- Line Ic + Line 2c + Line 3c. 

2009 
(2) 

12.22% 
70.89% 
8.66% 

5.72% 
29.11% 
1.67% 

0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 

10.33% 

As shown in Table 7 above, the 2009 railroad industry cost of capital equals 

10.33%. 
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VI. INCLUSION OF THE BNSF IN THE 
2009 COST OF CAPITAL CALCUALTION 

On November 3, 2009, Berkshire Hathaway hic. ("Berkshire") and BNSF 

announced an agreement to merge BNSF with an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of 

Berkshire, with the Berkshire subsidiary being the surviving company. The merger 

agreement called for Berkshire to acquire the outstanding BNSF shares it already did not 

own at a price of $100 per share, payable in cash or Berkshire Class A common stock. 

Berkshire's offer price represented an approximate 30 percent premium over the previous 

trading day's BNSF closing price. While announced in November 2009, the transaction 

did not close until February 2010. In the interceding three months between the 

announcement of the merger and the merger closing date, BNSF's common stock 

continued to trade on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") in a very narrow range in 

the high $90s per share. 

The STB sought comments as part ofthis 2009 Cost of Capital determination on 

how the change in BNSF share prices fi"om the November 2009 through December 2009 

should be considered in calculating the 2009 cost of common equity capital.̂ ^ We 

believe that no adjustments should be made to the 2009 cost of capital determination to 

account for Berkshire's acquisition ofBNSF. 

First, fi-om a practical standpoint, there is no effective way to remove the 

premiimi fi-om the actual BNSF stock price data after the announcement date. In the 

three months prior to the annotmcement, BNSF traded between approximately $74 and 

$84 per share. Subsequent to the merger plans being aimotmced, BNSF's stock price 

traded in a very narrow band between $96 and $98 between the November announcement 

^̂  See Berkshire Form S-4 Registration Statement as filed with the SEC on November 25,2009. 
*̂ See 2009 Cost of Capital. 
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date and the end ofthe year. There is no objective way to suggest what BNSF's stock 

price would have been had Berkshire not made its acquisition offer. 

Moreover, Berkshire's announcement not only impacted BNSF's share price, but 

the share price of the other railroads within the industry. On the day of the Berkshire 

annotmcement, CSX, NS and UP each experienced significant jumps in their stock 

prices.̂ ^ Many analysts attribute the jump in railroad stock prices on November 11 to the 

Berkshire acquisition announcement. If the STB wanted to adjust BNSF's stock price, it 

would also have to find a way to remove the impact ofthe Berkshire announcement from 

all other railroad stock prices. 

Second, BNSF stock was still actively trading between the announcement date 

and the end of 2009. The fact that BNSF's stock price traded in a narrow band only 

slightly below the announced acquisition price reflects market sentiment that it expected 

Berkshire to close the deal at the announced price of $100 per share. There are ntmierous 

examples of acquisitions being aimoimced and the stock price moving higher than the 

acquisition price due to the expectation of a higher competing bid coming from other 

parties. Similarly, there are numerous examples of the market not expecting the deal to 

be completed, and the announcement having only a slight impact on the stock price. 

Because there is no practical way to adjust the railroad's stock prices, the other 

potential altemative is to eliminate BNSF from the composite group altogether for the 

2009 cost of equity determination. While there is precedent for removing certain railroad 

companies from the railroad industry cost of equity determination,̂ ^ we would propose 

^̂  CSX saw a 7.3 percent increase, NS a 5.4 percent increase and UP a 7.9 percent increase, while the S&P 
500 index closed down 1 percent on that day. 

*̂ See for example ICC Ex Parte No. 353, Adequacy of Railroad Revenue (1978 Determination), 361 ICC 
at 79. In that proceeding, the ICC accepted die removal ofthe Missouri Pacific fi-om part ofthe cost of 
equity determination due to a recapitalization in 1973 that impacted the 1978 determination. 
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such an action not be made here. Simply stated, Berkshire's announcement of its 

acquisition of the BNSF did not impact BNSF meeting all the criteria used to identify 

which railroads should be included in the composite group of railroads. BNSF continued 

to be a Class I railroad, its debt continued to be rated investment grade by the ratings 

agencies, its stock was continuously traded on the New York Stock Exchange and it paid 

dividends throughout the year. We can foresee no reason to exclude BNSF from the 

composite group. 

While we agree with Mr. Gray that no adjustment is warranted for Berkshire's 

announced acquisition, we disagree with his disclaiming that BNSF was not acquired at a 

premium. Standard financial nomenclature states that the difference between the market 

price of a target company and the acquisition price is the "acquisition premium."^^ For 

want of the announced acquisition, there is no basis to say that the stock price of the 

target firm would have reached the acquisition price level. 

Professor Stewart C. Meyers, an expert witness for the AAR in prior cost of 

capital proceedings, explains how premiums come about due to an announced 

acquisition. 

In most takeovers, the acquiring firm is willing to 
pay a large premium over the current market price 
of the acquired firm; therefore, when a firm 
becomes the target of a takeover attempt, its stock 
price increases in anticipation of the takeover 
premiimi....Thus within the day [of the takeover 
announcement], the new stock prices apparently 
reflect (at least on average) the magnitude of the 
takeover premium.̂ * 

^̂  See for example, Damodaran, A., "Investment Valuation: Tools and Techniques for Determining the 
Value of Any Asset," Second Edition, 2002 at 692. A copy ofthe relevant page is included in our 
workpapers. 

^ See Brealey, Myers and Allen at 339. 
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Mr. Gray infers that there was no premium offered by Berkshire because the 

proposed acquisition price was less than prior BNSF stock prices, and the relative change 

in BNSF stock over the year was less than the relative change in stock prices for other 

railroad companies in 2009. These points are irrelevant and have no bearing on 

whether Berkshire paid a premiimi for BNSF. Berkshire offered, and eventually paid, 

approximately 30 percent more for BNSF's common equity shares than what they were 

frading prior to Berkshire's offer and BNSF's agreement to the acquisition. While it 

should have no impact on this cost of capital proceeding, this fact does not negate the fact 

that Berkshire paid a premium to acquire BNSF. 

'̂See Gray VS at 46. 
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VII. EXPANSION OF THE COST 
OF CAPITAL COMPOSITE GROUP 

In a separate filing from that submitted by the AAR in this proceeding, the KSC 

suggests that the STB conduct a separate proceeding, before the 2010 cost of capital 

determination is made, to consider whether to expand the cohort of railroads included in 

the railroad cost of capital determination. KSC believes that with the removal of the 

BNSF fix)m the cost of capital calculation beginning with the 2010 determination, the 

industry cost of capital will be based on only three railroads, CSX, NS and UP, under the 

existing selection criteria.̂ ^ KCS also claims that including only three companies could 

lead to an understated cost of capital. '̂ 

KCS believes that a way to solve this issue is to expand the composite railroad 

group to include three additional railroads in the 2010 cost of capital proceeding, i.e., 

KCS, the Canadian National Railway ("CN") and the Canadian Pacific Railway ("CP"). 

KCS believes that expanding the group to include itself would provide a more accurate 

representation of the true cost of capital for the railroad industry because the existing 

methodology tends to understate the cost of capital for smaller railroads. KCS also 

believes that the corporate structures of the two Canadian railroads have changed 

dramatically in recent years, with each expanding its U.S. presence through the 

acquisition of U.S. based railroads, including the Illinois Central, Wisconsin Central and 

the Dakota, Minnesota and Eastem. ̂ ^ Therefore, KCS believes that the STB should 

°̂ Under the existing inclusion criteria, BNSF would be excluded because its parent company Berkshire 
does not pay dividends on common stock, and has less than 50 percent ofits assets devoted to railroad 
operations. 

' ' See KCS Statement at 4. 
^' See KCS Statement at 4. 
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reflect CP and CN's larger presence in the U.S. by their inclusion in the railroad cost of 

capital. 

We believe that expansion of the composite group to include the KCS, CN and 

CP is unwarranted. While each of these three railroads have U.S. operations, the vast 

majority of CN and CP's revenues and assets come from outside the U.S., and a near 

majority of KCS' revenues and assets come fix)m Mexico. In each case, the railroads cost 

of acquiring debt and equity are impacted by factors outside the U.S., and not 

representative of the risks faced by the U.S. railroad industry. In addition, CN and CP 

publish their financial statements in Canadian and not U.S. dollars, which could prove 

extremely problematic when attempting to develop debt and equity costs using the STB's 

current methodologies. We discuss each of these issues below. 

A. IMPACT OF NON-
U.S. OPERATIONS 

L Risks Faced By 
International Firms 

A basic financial principle holds that a safe dollar is worth more than a risky 

dollar. As such, investments with greater risk, holding all else constant, will require a 

higher rate of retum to induce investors to invest in the project or asset. Financial 

economists have long recognized the differing types of risk that investors implicitiy and 

explicitly take into consideration when evaluating investments. These include, but are 

not limited to, market risk, stand-alone risk, business risk and financial risk.^^ 

^̂  For a fiirther exploration of risk see Brigham, E.F., & Ehrhardt, M. C. ''Financial Management: Theory 
and Practice" (12th ed.). South-Westem Cengage Learning., 2008, pages 567 and 568. 
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While all companies face these general types of risk, companies with large 

foreign operations face additional risks not customarily faced by domestic firms. 

Intemational operations, especially those operating at the retail or local wholesale level, 

may receive payment in a currency different than that of the company's home country. 

This means that the value of the company's foreign operation depends in part on what 

happens with exchange rates. This is known as exchange rate risk, and, depending upon 

how the local currency trades against the currency of the home country, can either 

increase or decrease the value of the operation, and impact the rate of retum on the 

foreign investment. 

In addition to the exchange rate risk, companies operating outside their home 

country also face country risk. This risk depends upon the foreign country's economic, 

political and social environment. Countries with stable economic, social, political and 

regulatory systems provide a safer climate, and therefore have less country risk than 

unstable countries. Examples of country risk include risks associated with changes in tax 

rates, business regulations, environmental regulations, and, in extreme situations, 

expropriation of assets. 

Exchange rate risk and country risk are assessed by the market and included in the 

price of an equity share or debt instmment for companies with extensive foreign 

operations. Obviously, a company that operates an offshore asset in a nation with a 

history of expropriation will need to offer a premium to obtain the capital necessary to 

develop the asset. But even smaller, less drastic changes, such as changes in 

environmental or labor regulations will have an impact. These risks are in addition to the 

general risks faced by companies with only U.S. operations. 
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In its cost of capital determinations, the STB is attempting to estimate the cost of 

capital for the U.S. railroad industry and not worldwide railroad industry in general. In 

simple terms, including companies with extensive non-U.S. operations would distort the 

cost of capital for the U.S. railroad industry. 

2. Exchange Rate 
Risk Facing Railroads 

The three additional railroads KCS states suggests should be in the cost of capital 

determination (itself, CN and CP) have extensive non-U.S. operations and generate either 

a majority or near majority of the revenues outside the U.S. Table 8 below displays the 

percentage of revenues each company generates fix)m non-U.S. operations based on each 

railroad's 2009 annual report to shareholders. 

Table 8 
Percentage Of Revenues Derived 1 

From Non-U.S. Operations -

Railroad 
(1) 

KCS 
1.2007 
2. 2008 
3. 2009 

CN 
4. 2007 
5. 2008 
6. 2009 

CP 
7. 2007 
8. 2008 
9. 2009 

Percentage 
Of Revenue 
From U.S. 

Operations 
(2) 

53.3% 
55.8% 
58.4% 

33.3% 
33.6% 
32.5% 

21.1% 
22.6% 
28.5% 

Source: Exhibit No. 6. 

-2007 to 2009 

Percentage 
Of Revenue 

From Non-U.S. 
Ooerations 

(3) 

46.7% 
44.2% 
41.6% 

66.7% 
66.4% 
67.5% 

78.9% 
77.4% 
71.5% 
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As shown in Table 8 above, the vast majority of CN and CP's revenues come 

from their Canadian operations. The KCS on the other hand receives over 40 percent of 

its revenues from its Mexican subsidiaries.̂ '* Each company's extensive foreign 

operations means that it faces exchange rate risks that will ultimately find its way into its 

security prices. The railroads are well aware ofthis risk and communicate this fact to the 

their shareholders. For example, in its 2009 SEC Form 10-K, KCS states, "KCSM's 

financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be impacted by currency 

fluctuations..."^^ Because these three railroads face currency exchange risk that the other 

Class I railroads do not, it would be inappropriate to include this risk in the U.S. railroad 

industry's cost of capital. 

3. Country Risk 
Faced bv Railroads 

In addition to the exchange rate risk, all three railroads face country risk that 

impacts their cost of capital. Country risk will customarily impacts the assets that the 

company will have in a particular country. Examples would include new regulatory, 

safety or environmental standards that would impact a railroad's infrastmcture or 

locomotives. As such, knowing the value of the assets within a country can provide a 

rough estimate of exposure of country risk faced by the companies. 

Table 9 below compares the percentage of assets each railroad has in the U.S. and 

in either Canada (CN and CP) or Mexico (KCS). 

*̂ This excludes between $8 and $18 million per year that KCS receives fi-om unconsolidated subsidiary 
companies that operate in Mexico and Panama. 

" See KCS 2009 SEC Form 10-K at 19. 
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Is 

Table 9 
Percentage Of Long-Term Assets | 

> and Outside the U.S. 

Percentage 
Of Long-Term 

Railroad Assets In U.S. 
(1) 

KCS 
1.2007 
2. 2008 
3. 2009 

CN 
4. 2007 
5. 2008 
6. 2009 

CP 
7.2007 
8. 2008 
9.2009 

(2) 

49.5% 
50.9% 
52.7% 

42.3% 
45.4% 
43.5% 

16.8% 
35.8% 
32.5% 

Source: Exhibit No. 6. 

-2007 to 2009 

Percentage 
Of Long-Term 

Assets Outside U.S. 
(3) 

50.5% 
49.1% 
47.3% 

57.7% 
54.6% 
56.5% 

83.2% 
64.2% 
67.5% 

As shown in Table 9 above, both the majority of the CN and CP's assets are 

located outside the U.S. In 2007, the value of KCS' Mexican assets exceeded the value 

ofits U.S. assets, but has recentiy shifted back to a U.S. majority.̂ ^ 

All three companies face certain levels of country risk. However, KCS most 

likely faces greater risks given the current social, economic and political issues within 

Mexico as compared to Canada and the U.S. KCS clearly understands these risks, and 

has listed them in its SEC filings and annual reports. According to KCS' 2009 SEC Form 

^̂  How long KCS maintains more U.S. assets than Mexican assets is uncertain. In March 2010 KSC 
acquired an intermodal facility for $25 million. Depending upon the value assigned to the intermodal 
facility assets and other new assets placed in service by KCS in 2010, the percent of U.S. to non-U.S. 
assets could swing back to the majority being within Mexico. 
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10-K, KCS states if faces risks from the following factors due to its extensive operations 

within Mexico: 

• KCS's Mexican concession is subject to revocation or termination in 
certain circumstances, which would prevent KCS from operating its 
railroad. 

• KCS faces economic and political risk in Mexico stemming from the 
Mexican government's extensive influence over the economy. 

• KSC believes that the Mexican government may in certain circumstances 
invoke foreign exchange controls, thus limiting KCS's ability to repatriate 
cash from Mexico, and hampering KSC liquidity. 

• KSC states that Mexican national politicians are currentiy focused on 
certain regional, political and social tensions, and reforms regarding fiscal 
and labor policies. These issues could impact the Mexican economy, 
which in tum could have material adverse impact on KCS. 

• KCS believes Mexico could experience high levels of inflation in the 
fiiture that could adversely impact the results of KCS's operations, and its 
cost of doing business in the country. 

• KCS is involved in litigation in Mexican courts regarding KCS's 
acquisition of its Mexican railroad concession. An adverse mling in that 
case could retum the stock of its Mexican concession to the Government 
of Mexico. 

These risks, along with others, have not gone unnoticed by U.S. equity analysts. 

A June 5, 2010 report by Standard & Poor's notes the increased levels of risk that KCS 

faces due to its Mexican operations: 

Risks to our recommendations and target price 
include lower than expected economic growth, a 
more vimlent outbreak of swine flu over coming 
months, the build out of other ports in Mexico to 
compete with Lazaro Cardenas, and an unfavorable 
mling in any legal disputes in Mexico. 

^̂  See Standard & Poor's June 5, 2010 Stock Report for Kansas City Southern. 
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KCS, along with CP and CN, face unique country risks that ultimately impact the 

KCS, CN and CP's stock and debt values. It would not be reasonable for U.S. shippers to-

pay for risks associated with these companies non-U.S. operations. 

B. CN AND CP REPORT 
IN CANADAIN DOLLARS 

Both CN and CP develop financial statements according to U.S. Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"), meaning that they file the necessary 

financial statistics to develop a MS-DCF cost of equity for each firm. However, each 

company presents its financials in Canadian dollars and not U.S. dollars as all other 

railroad companies being considered for the cost of capital composite group. Adding 

currency conversion issues to the cost of capital process would add significant 

complexity and variance to the determination. 

Using the CN and CP's Annual Report Form R-1 filed with the STB, which are 

shown in U.S. dollars, would not be an acceptable substitution for the currency 

conversion problem. The STB's cost of capital methodologies use data and prices based 

on the railroads' publicly traded parent companies and not the railroad operating 

companies financial statements, which may be significantly different. This is even more 

tme for the CP and CN, whose U.S. subsidiaries that report in the Form R-1 make up 

only a small portion ofthe larger publicly traded parent company. 

^̂  CN and CP common equity trade on the NYSE in U.S. dollars, so developing a beta estimate would not 
be an issue. 
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STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 

My name is Thomas D. Crowley. I am an economist and President of the economic 

consulting firm of L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc. The firm's offices are located at ISOl Duke 

Street, Suite 200, Alexandria, Virginia 22314, 760 E. Pusch View Lane, Suite ISO, Tucson, 

Arizona 85737, and 21 Founders Way, Queensbury, New York 12804. 

I am a graduate of the University of Maine from which I obtained a Bachelor of Science 

degree in Economics. I have also taken graduate courses in transportation at George Washington 

University in Washington, D.C. I spent three years in the United States Army and since 

Febmary 1971 have been employed by L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc. 

I am a member ofthe American Economic Association, the Transportation Research Forum, 

and the American Railway Engineering and Maintenance-of-Way Association. 

The firm of L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc. specializes in analyzing matters related to the 

rail transportation of coal. As a result of my extensive economic consulting practice since 1971 

and my participating in maximum-rate, rail merger, service disputes and mle-tnaking 

proceedings before various government and private goveming bodies, I have become thoroughly 

familiar with the rail carriers that move coal over the major coal routes in the United States. This 

familiarity extends to subjects of railroad service, costs and profitability, railroad capacity, 

railroad traffic prioritization and the stmcture and operation of the various contracts and tariffs 

that historically have governed the movement of coal by rail. 



Exhibit No. 1 
Page 2 of6 

STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 

As an economic consultant, I have organized and directed economic studies and prepared 

reports for railroads, fieight forwarders and other carriers, for shippers, for associations and for 

state governments and other public bodies dealing with transportation and related economic 

problems. Examples of studies I have participated in include organizing and directing traffic, 

operational and cost analyses in connection with multiple car movements, unit train operations 

for coal and other commodities, freight forwarder facilities, TOFC/COFC rail facilities, divisions 

of through rail rates, operating commuter passenger service, and other studies dealing with 

markets and the transportation by different modes of various commodities from both eastem and 

westem origins to various destinations in the United States. The nature of these studies enabled 

me to become familiar with the operating practices and accounting procedures utilized by 

railroads in the normal course of business. 

Additionally, I have inspected and studied both railroad terminal and line-haul facilities used 

in handling various commodities, and in particular unit train coal movements from coal mine 

origins in the Powder River Basin and in Colorado to various utility destinations in the eastem, 

mid-western and westem portions ofthe United States and from the Eastem coal fields to various 

destinations in the Mid-Adantic, northeastem, southeastem and mid-western portions of the 

United States. These operational reviews and studies were used as a basis for the determination 

of the traffic and operating characteristics for specific movements of coal and numerous other 

commodities handled by rail. 
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I have frequently been called upon to develop and coordinate economic and 

operational studies relative to the acquisition of coal and the rail transportation of coal on 

behalf of electric utility companies. My responsibilities in these undertakings included 

the analyses of rail routes, rail operations and an assessment ofthe relative efficiency and 

costs of railroad operations over those routes. I have also analyzed and made 

recommendations regarding the acquisition of railcars according to the specific needs of 

various coal shippers. The results of these analyses have been employed in order to assist 

shippers in the development and negotiation of rail transportation contracts which 

optimize operational efficiency and cost effectiveness. 

I have developed property and business valuations of privately held freight and 

passenger railroads for use in regulatory, litigation and commercial settings. These 

valuation assignments required me to develop company and/or industry specific costs of 

debt, preferred equity and common equity, as well as target and actual capital stmctures. I 

am also well acquainted with and have used the commonly accepted models for 

determining a company's cost of common equity, including the Discounted Cash Flow 

Model ("DCF"), Capital Asset Pricing Model ("CAPM"), and the Farma-French Three 

Factor Model. 

Moreover, I have developed numerous variable cost calculations utilizing the various 

formulas employed by the Interstate Commerce Commission ("ICC") and the Surface 

Transportation Board ("STB") for the development of variable costs for common carriers, 
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with particular emphasis on the basis and use of the Uniform Railroad Costing System 

("URCS") and its predecessor, Rail Form A. I have utilized URCS/Rail form A costing 

principles since the beginning of my career with L. E. Peabody & Associates Inc. in 

1971. 

I have frequentiy presented both oral and written testimony before the ICC, STB, 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Railroad Accounting Principles Board, Postal 

Rate Commission and numerous state regulatory commissions, federal courts and state 

courts. This testimony was generally related to the development of variable cost of 

service calculations, rail traffic and operating patterns, fuel supply economics, contract 

interpretations, economic principles conceming the maximum level of rates, 

implementation of maximum rate principles, and calculation of reparations or damages, 

including interest. I presented testimony before the Congress of the United States, 

Committee on Transportation and Infiastmcture on the status of rail competition in the 

westem United States. I have also presented expert testimony in a number of court and 

arbitration proceedings conceming the level of rates, rate adjustment procedures, service, 

capacity, costing, rail operating procedures and other economic components of specific 

contracts. 

Since the implementation of the Staggers Rail Act of 1980. which clarified that rail 

carriers could enter into transportation contracts with shippers, I have been actively 
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involved in negotiating transportation contracts on behalf of coal shippers. Specifically, I 

have advised utilities conceming coal transportation rates based on market conditions and 

carrier competition, movement specific service commitments, specific cost-based rate 

adjustment provisions, contract reopeners that recognize changes in productivity and 

cost-based ancillary charges. 

I have been actively engaged in negotiating coal supply contracts for various users 

throughout the United States. In addition, I have analyzed the economic impact of 

buying out, brokering, and modifying existing coal supply agreements. My coal supply 

assignments have encompassed analyzing altemative coals to determine the impact on the 

delivered price of operating and maintenance costs, unloading costs, shrinkage factor and 

by-product savings. 

I have developed different economic analyses regarding rail transportation matters 

for over sixty (60) electric utility companies located in all parts ofthe United States, and 

for major associations, including American Paper Institute, American Petroleum Institute, 

Chemical Manufacturers Association, Coal Exporters Association, Edison Electric 

Institute, Mail Order Association of America, National Coal Association, National 

Industrial Transportation League, North America Freight Car Association, the Fertilizer 

Institute and Westem Coal Traffic League. In addition, I have assisted numerous 

government agencies, major industries and major railroad compemies in solving various 

transportation-related problems. 
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In the two Westem rail mergers that resulted in the creation of the present BNSF 

Railway Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company and in the acquisition of Conrail 

by Norfolk Southern Railway Company and CSX Transportation, Inc., I reviewed the 

railroads' applications including their supporting traffic, cost and operating data and 

provided detailed evidence supporting requests for conditions designed to maintain the 

competitive rail environment that existed before the proposed metiers and acquisition. 

In these proceedings, I represented shipper interests, including plastic, chemical, coal, 

paper and steel shippers. 

I have participated in various proceedings involved with the division of through 

rail rates. For example, I participated in ICC Docket No. 35585, Akron. Canton & 

Youmstown Railroad Company, et al. v. Aberdeen and Rockfish Railroad Company, et 

gi which was a complaint filed by the northem and mid-westem rail lines to change the 

primary north-south divisions. I was personally involved in all traffic, operating and cost 

aspects ofthis proceeding on behalf of the northem and mid-westem rail lines. I was the 

lead witaess on behalf of the Long Island Rail Road in ICC Docket No. 36874, Notice of 

Intent to File Division Complaint by the Lone Island Rail Road Company. 
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My name is Daniel L. Fapp. I am Vice President of the economic consulting firm of L. 

E. Peabody & Associates, Inc. The firm's offices are located at 1501 Duke Street, Suite 200, 

Alexandria, VA 22314; 760 E. Pusch View Lane, Suite 150, Tucson, Arizona 85737; and 21 

Founders Way, Queensbury, New York 85737. 

I received a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration with an option in 

Marketing (cum laude) from the Califomia State University, Northridge in 1987, and a Master of 

Business Administration degree from the University of Arizona's Eller College of Management 

in 1993, specializing in finance and operations management. I am also a member of Beta Gamma 

Sigma, the national honor society for collegiate schools of business. 

I have been employed by L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc. since December 1997. Prior 

to joining L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc., I was employed by BHP Copper Inc. in the role of 

Transportation Manager - Finance and Administration, and where I also served as an officer and 

treasurer of the three BHP Copper Inc. subsidiary railroads, The San Manual Arizona Railroad, 

the Magma Arizona Railroad (also known as the BHP Arizona Railroad) and the BHP Nevada 

Railroad. I have also held operations management positions with Arizona Lithographers in 

Tucson, AZ and MCA-Universal Studios in Universal City, CA. 

While at BHP Copper Inc., I was responsible for all financial and administrative 

functions ofthe company's transportation group. I also directed the BHP Copper Inc. subsidiary 

railroads' cost and revenue accounting staff, and managed the San Manuel Arizona Railroad's 

and BHP Arizona Railroad's dispatchers and the raih-oad dispatching functions. I served on the 

company's Commercial and Transportation Management Team and the company's Railroad 

Acquisition Team where I was responsible for evaluating fhe acquisition of new raihoads, 
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including developing financial and economic assessment models. While with MCA-Universal 

Studios, I held several operations management positions, including Tour Operations Manager, 

where my duties included vehicle routing and scheduling, personnel scheduling, forecasting 

facilities utilization, and designing and performing queuing analyses. 

As part of my work for L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc., I have performed and directed 

numerous projects and analyses undertaken on behalf of utility companies, short line railroads, 

bulk shippers, and industry and trade associations. Examples of studies which I have 

participated in organizing and directing include, traffic, operational and cost analyses in 

connection with the rail movement of coal, metallic ores, pulp and paper products, and other 

commodities. I have also analyzed multiple car movements, unit train operations, divisions of 

through rail rates and switching operations throughout the United States. The nature of these 

studies enabled me to become familiar with the operating procedures utilized by railroads in the 

normal course of business. 

Since 1997, I have participated in the development of cost of service analyses for the 

movement of coal over the major eastem and westem coal-hauling railroads. I have conducted 

on-site studies of switching, detention and line-haul activities relating to the handling of coal. I 

have also participated in and managed several projects assisting short-line railroads. In these 

engagements, I assisted short-line railroads in their negotiations with connecting Class I carriers, 

performed railroad property and business evaluations, and worked on rail Une abandonment 

projects. 

I have been frequently called upon to perform financial analyses and assessments of 

Class I, Class II zmd Class III railroad companies. I have determined the Going Concem Value 
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of privately held freight and passenger railroads, including developing company specific costs of 

debt and equity for use in discounting future company cash flows. My consulting assignments 

regularly involve working with and determining various facets of railroad financial issues, 

including cost of capital determinations. In these assignments, I have calculated raihoad capital 

stmctures, market values, cost of railroad debt, cost of preferred railroad equity and common 

railroad equity. I am also well acquainted with and have used financial industry accepted models 

for determining a firm's cost of equity, including Discounted Cash Flow Model ("DCF") models. 

Capital Asset Pricing Model ("CAPM"), Farma-French Three Factor Model and Arbitrage 

Pricing Models. Based on these assignments, I have frequently spoken and provided guest 

lectures on developing divisional, corporate and industry costs of equity to undergraduate and 

graduate level classes. 

In my tenure with L. E. Peabody & Associates, Inc., I have presented stand-alone cost 

evidence, including discounted cash-flow models and cost of capital determinations, in numerous 

proceedings before the STB. I have also presented evidence before the STB in Ex Parte No. 

661, Rail Fuel Surcharges. Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 10), Railroad Cost of Capital - 2006. Ex 

Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 11), Railroad Cost of Capital - 2007, Ex Parte No. 558 (Sub-No. 12), 

Railroad Cost of Capital - 2008. Ex Parte No. 664, Methodology To Be Employed In 

Determining The Railroad Industry Cost Of Capital, and Ex Parte No. 664 (Sub-No.l), Use Of A 

Multi-Stage Discounted Cash Flow Model In Determining The Railroad Industry's Cost Of 

Capital. In addition, my reports on railroad valuations have been used as evidence before the 

Nevada State Tax Commission. 
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Comparison of BNSF Historic 
Financial Statistics to Restated Financial Statistics 

(All Values in Millions) 

Item 2005 
(1) (2) 

Historic " 
1. Net Income $1,531 
2. Extraordinary Items 

a. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax $0 
b. Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax $0 
c. Extraordinaiy gains or losses $0 

3. Capital Expenditures $1,750 
4. Depreciation $1,075 
5. Deferred Taxes $217 
6. Revenues $12,987 

2006 
(3) 

$1,887 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,014 
$1,130 
$314 

$14,985 

2007 
(4) 

$1,829 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,248 
$1,293 
$280 

$15,802 

2008 
(5) 

$2,115 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,175 
$1,397 
$417 

$18,018 

2009 
(6) 

$1,721 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,724 
$1,537 
$612 

$14,016 

Restated 
7. Net Income 
8. Extraordinary Items 

a. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax 
b. Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax 
c. Extraordinary gains or losses 

9. Capital Expenditures 
10. Depreciation 
11. Deferred Taxes 
12. Revenues 

Difference 
13. Net Income 
14. Extraordinary Items 

a. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax 
b. Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax 
c. Extraordinary gains or losses 

15. Capital Expenditures 
16. Depreciation 
17. Deferred Taxes 
18. Revenues 

$1,534 $1,889 $1,829 $2,115 $1,721 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$1,750 
$1,111 
$219 

$12,987 

-$3 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,014 
$1,176 
$316 

$14,985 

-$2 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,993 
$1,293 
$280 

$15,802 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$3,116 
$1,397 
$417 

$18,018 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$2,724 
$1,537 
$612 

$14,016 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$36 
-$2 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

-$46 
-$2 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

-$745 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

-$941 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

1/ 
2/ 

3/ 

BNSF 2005 to 2009 SEC Form 10-K, respectively. 
For years 2007 to 2009 the 2009 BNSF SEC Form 10-K was used. 
For the year 2006, the 2008 BNSF SEC Form 10-K was used. For the year 2005, 
the 2007 BNSF SEC Form 10-K was used. 
Line 1-6 minus line 7-12, respectively by year. 



Exhibit No. 3 
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Comparison of CSXT Historic 
Financial Statistics to Restated Financial Statistics 

(All Values in Millioiis) 

Item 2005 

(1) (2) 

Historic " 
1. Net Income $1,145 
2. Extraordinary Items 

a. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax $0 
b. Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax $425 
c. Extraordinary gains or losses $0 

3. Capital Expenditures $1,136 
4. Depreciation $833 
5. Deferred Taxes -$46 
6. Revenues $8,618 

2006 

(3) 

$1,310 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$1,639 
$867 
$42 

$9,566 

2007 
(4) 

$1,336 

$0 
$110 

$0 
$1,773 
$890 
$272 

$10,030 

2008 

(5) 

$1,365 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$1,740 
$918 
$435 

$11,255 

2009 
(6) 

$1,152 

$0 
$15 
$0 

$1,447 
$908 
$436 

$9,041 

Restated " 
7. Net Income 
8. Extraordinary Items 

$1,145 $1,310 $1,336 $1,365 $1,152 

a. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change. Net of Tax 
b. Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax 
c. Extraordinary gains or losses 

9. Capital Expenditures 
10. Depreciation 
11. Deferred Taxes 
12. Revenues 

Difference ^ 
13. Net Income 
14. Extraordinary Items 

a. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax 
b. Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax 
c. Extraordinary gains or losses 

15. Capital Expenditures 
16. Depreciation 
17. Deferred Taxes 
18. Revenues 

$0 
$425 

$0 
$1,136 
$833 
-$46 

$8,618 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$1,639 
$867 
$42 

$9,566 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$100 
$0 

$1,773 
$890 
$272 

$10,030 

$0 

$0 
$10 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
-$130 

$0 
$1,740 
$918 
$435 

$11,255 

$0 

$0 
$130 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$15 
$0 

$1,447 
$908 
$436 

$9,041 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

1/ 
2/ 

3/ 

CSXT 2005 to 2009 SEC Form 10-K, respectively. 
For years 2007 to 2009 the 2009 CSXT SEC Form 10-K was used. 
For the year 2006, the 2008 CSXT SEC Form 10-K was used. For the year 2005, 
the 2007 CSXT SEC Form 10-K was used. 
Line 1-6 minus line 7-12, respectively by year. 
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Exhibit No. S 
Page 1 of 1 

Comparison of Gray's ETC 
Market Value to Corrected ETC Market Value 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 

Railroad 
(1) 

BNSF 
CSX 
NS 
UP 
Total 4/ 

(Ail Values in Tiiousands) 

Gray's Current 
Market Value 1/ 

(2) 

$236,658 
$158,148 
$97,756 
$215,499 
$708,061 

Corrected Current 
Market Value 2/ 

(3) 

$242,978 
$158,148 
$97,756 

$215,499 
$714,381 

Difference 3/ 
(4) 

$6,320 
$0 
$0 
SO 

$6,320 

1/ Source: Gray VS at 14 
2/ Source: Gray VS at Appendix C 
3/ Column (3) - Column (2). 
4/ Sum of Lines 1 to 4. 



Exhibit No.6 
Page 1 of3 

Summary of KCS U.S. 
and Foreign Financial Statistics 

(All Values 

Item 
(1) 

Revenues 
1. United States 
2. Mexico 1/ 
3. Total 2/ 

% of Revenues 
4. United States 3/ 
5. Mexico 4/ 
6. Total 5/ 

Assets 
7. United States 
8. Mexico 
9. Total 6/ 

% of Assets 
10. United States 7/ 
11. Mexico 8/ 
12. Total 9/ 

1/ Exlcudes revenues 

in U.S. Millions) 

2009 
(2) 

$864 
$616 

$1,480 

58.4% 
41.6% 
100.0% 

$2,501 
$2,246 
$4,747 

52.7% 
47.3% 
100.0% 

from unco 

2008 
(3) 

$1,034 
$819. 

$1,852 

55.8% 
44.2% 
100.0% 

$2,342 
$2,256 
$4,598 

50.9% 
49.1% 
100.0% 

)nsolidate< 

2007. 
(4) 

$930 
$813. 

$1,743 

53.3% 
46.7% 
100.0% 

$2,045 
$2,088. 
$4,133 

49.5% 
50.5%. 
100.0% 

1 Mexican 
and Panamanian subsidiaries of $12.8 million 
in 2008 and $4.2 million in 2009. 

2/ Sum of Lines 1 and 2. 
3/ Line 1 -̂  Line 3. 
4/ Line 2 -̂  Line 3. 
5/ Sum of Lines 4 and 5. 
6/ Sum of Lines 7 and 8. 
7/ Line 7 ̂  Line 9. 
8/ Line 8 - Line 9. 
9/ Sum of Lines 10 and 11. 
101 Not Available. 

Source: KSC 2008 and 2009 SEC Form 10-K. 



Exhibit No.6 
Page 2 of3 

Summary of CNU.S. 
and Foreign Financial Statistics 
(All Values in Canadian Millions) 

Item 
(1) 

Revenues 
1. United States 
2. Canada 
3. Total 1/ 

% of Revenues 
4. United States 2/ 
5. Canada 3/ 
6. Total 4/ 

Assets 
7. United States 
8. Canada 
9. Total 5/ 

% of Assets 
10. United States 6/ 
11. Canada 7/ 
12. Total 8/ 

2009 
(2) 

$2,396 
$4,971 
$7,367 

32.5% 
67.5% 
100.0% 

$9,852 
$12,778 
$22,630 

43.5% 
56.5% 
100.0% 

l ! Sum of Lines 1 and 2. 
2/ Line 1 -s- Line 3. 
3/ Line 2 -̂  Line 3. 
4/ Sum of Lines 4 and 5. 
5/ SumofLines7and8. 
6/ Line 7 - Line 9. 
2/ Line 8 -̂  Line 9. 
8/ SumofLineslOandll. 
9/ Not Available. 

2008 
(3) 

$2,850 
$5,632 
$8,482 

33.6% 
66.4% 
100.0% 

$10,286 
$12,377 
$22,663 

45.4% 
54.6% 
100.0% 

2007 
(4) 

$2,632 
$5,265 
$7,897 

33.3% 
66.7% 
100.0% 

$8,636 
$11,777 
$20,413 

42.3% 
57.7% 
100.0% 

Source: CN 2008 and 2009 Annual Report. 



Exhibit No.6 
Page 3 of3 

Summary of CPU.S. 
and Foreign Financial Statistics 
(All Values in Canadian Millions) 

Item 
(1) 

Revenues 
1. United States 
2. Canada 
3. Total 1/ 

% of Revenues 
4. United States 2/ 
5. Canada 3/ 
6. Total 4/ 

Assets 
7. United States 
8. Canada 
9. Total 5/ 

% of Assets 
10. United States 6/ 
11. Canada 7/ 
12. Total 8/ 

1/ Sum of Lines 1 and 2, 
2/ Line 1 -̂  Line 3. 
3/ Line 2 - Line 3. 
4/ Sum of Lines 4 and 5. 
5/ Sum of Lines 7 and 8, 
6/ Line 7 -̂  Line 9. 
7/ Line 8 - Line 9. 

2009 
(2) 

$1,227 
$3,076 
$4,303 

28.5% 
71.5% 
100.0% 

$3,887 
$8,081 
$11,968 

32.5% 
67.5% 
100.0% 

8/ SumofLineslOandll. 

2008 
(3) 

$1,117 
$3,815 
$4,932 

22.6% 
77.4% 
100.0% 

$4,430 
$7,954 
$12,385 

35.8% 
64.2% 
100.0% 

2007 
(4) 

$991 
$3,716 
$4,708 

21.1% 
78.9% 
100.0% 

$1,536 
$7,582 
$9,118 

16.8% 
,83.2% 
100.0% 

Source: CP 2009 Annual Report. 
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Hislorleal estimates for Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corporation 
Issue: BNl (NYSE. BNl) 

EPS Historical Actuals 
F V O e c a m F>'Oee2005 FYOacJOOt FYDeeJOOT F Y D a c X m 

2 87 4.13 503 524 6.34 
These numbers are as pnivided by malonly of analysis conlnbuting estimates for this company and might vary from whal the company has reponed. 
Refer to company filings and press releases lor aduels-as reported numbers 

EPS Median historical astimatse (annual series) 
Month 

Jan 2005 
Feb 2005 
Mar 2005 
Apr 2005 
May 2005 
Jun 2005 
Jul 2005 
Aug 2005 
Sep 2005 
Oct 2005 
Nov 2005 
Dec 2005 
Jan 2006 
Feb 2006 
Mar 2006 
Apr 2006 
May 2006 
Jun 2006 
Jul 2006 
Aug 2006 
Sep 2006 
Oct 2006 
Nov 2006 
Dec 2006 
Jan 2007 
Feb 2007 
Mar 2007 
Apr 2007 
May 2007 
Jun 2007 
Jul 2007 
Aug 2007 
Sep 2007 
Oct 2007 
Nov 2007 
Dec 2007 
Jan 2008 
Feb 2008 
Mar 2008 
Apr 2008 
May 2008 
Jun 2008 
Jul 2008 
Aug 2008 
Sep 2008 
Oct 2008 
Nov 2008 
Dec 2008 
Jen 2009 
Feb 2009 
Mer 2009 
Apr 2009 
May 2009 
Jun 2009 
Jul 2009 
Aug 2009 
Sep 2009 
Oct 2009 
Nov 2009 
Dec 2009 
Jan 2010 

FYr004 FT 2005 
4 3.27 

3.40 
3.44 
348 
3.80 
380 
3.77 
3.90 
3.90 
3.90 
4.02 
4.02 
4.03 

. 

. 

FT 2001 
3.71 
385 
3 89 
3 95 
4 25 
4 27 
4.25 
4.40 
440 
4.45 
4 55 
4 55 
4.55 
4.75 
4.78 
4.84 
4.90 
4 93 
4 95 
4.95 
4.95 
499 
501 
501 
5 01 

-
-

FV2007 
4.05 
4.22 
4.34 
4 39 
4.58 
456 
4.61 
486 
4.86 
5.00 
5.13 
5.15 
5.15 
5.35 
5.43 
5.46 
5.58 
5.62 
565 
5 65 
5.65 
564 
5.88 
5.65 
5.66 
5.71 
5.70 
5.67 
5.55 
550 
543 
5.24 
5.19 
5.14 
5.21 
5.18 
517 

-
-
-

Frmoa 
4.5C 

6.0C 
6.0C 
615 
6 2C 
6 25 
8 25 
6.33 
6.33 
6.30 
6 41 
6 46 
6.45 
6 40 
6 41 
640 
6.38 
6 36 
6 35 
6 22 
6 20 
5.84 
5.90 
5.82 
579 
5.92 
5 92 
593 
6.06 
5.95 
5.89 
595 
5.95 
6 02 
630 
6.27 
6 26 

-
-

FT 2009 

-

-

-

757 
7.54 
7.32 
726 
7.14 
7.09 
7.07 
6.97 
6.82 
6 93 
7.04 
6.86 
6.76 
6.80 
680 
6.84 
7.00 
704 
6.97 
8 97 
7.00 
6 97 
699 
6.52 
636 
5 62 
550 
5.35 
515 
5.15 
4 95 
500 
5 00 
4 92 
486 
486 
4.86 

f^ jmo 

7.17 
768 
7.69 
7.75 
814 
6.29 
829 
839 
8.37 
823 
7.92 
7 39 
7.33 
6 55 
6 40 
6.00 
583 
5.75 
566 
5.60 
5.58 
560 
550 
5.50 
548 

Fr201 f 

8 40 
652 
8.64 
853 
845 
9.16 
9.16 
883 
8 31 
810 
759 
720 
704 
6.64 
6.67 
660 
645 
6.50 
6 55 
6.40 
6.40 
640 

Fy2«»2 

911 
9.29 
9.66 
954 
9 40 

10.47 
1046 
1017 
9.52 
9 31 
8 70 
8 32 
7.92 
7.94 
7.99 
7 62 
7 77 
7 77 
782 
8 05 
6.05 
8 05 

FY 3013 

. 

. 

9.65 
9.49 
8.99 
9.14 
910 
893 
871 
8.71 
888 
9.20 
9.20 
9.20 

EPS Consensus Estimates as of DecamlMr 31,2009 
VaitnHeaaef Q l Dec 2009 Q2 Mar 2010 Q3 Jun 2010 Q4SBp2O10 LT Growth % FY Dee 2009 FY Dee 3010 FY Dee 2011 

Median 
Mean 
High 
Low 
No ot Analysts 
No Est Up 
No Est Down 

120 
122 
138 
112 

22 
0 
0 

1 17 
1.15 
130 
104 

14 
0 
0 

1.27 
127 
141 
1.11 

14 
0 
0 

1.53 9.55% 
1.53 9.55% 
1.64 12.00% 
1 35 7 10% 

14 2 
0 0 
0 0 

486 
488 
506 
4 80 

15 
0 
0 

550 
550 
6.35 
4.89 

23 
0 
1 

640 
639 
7.00 
5.33 

17 
0 
0 

Consensus Estimates Indude options expenses per FASB 123{R) accounling changa.Consensus Estimates exclude opsons expenses as 
msionty of enalysts still exclude Oiese expenses. Refer to individual analyst estimates lo see status for each. 

Source: Thomson IBES 25 May 2010 



HIatoiicsl estimates (or CSX Corporation 
Issue: CSX (NYSE, CSX) 

EPS Historical Actuals 
FVDeeitXM FYDeeXOS FfDec2006 FVOec2007 FfOtciOOa FVOecZOM 

1.06 1.67 222 2.70 3.52 237 
These numbers are as pmvided by maionly of analysts contributing estimates for this company and might vary from whal the company has reponed 
Refer lo company filings and press releases for actuals-as reported numbers. 

EPS Median historical estimates (annual series) 
MontA P f i 0 0 4 FY2005 

Jan 20OS 1.02 128 
Feb 7005 - 132 
Mar7005 131 
Apr200S 131 
May2005 154 
Jun 2005 1 54 
Jul 2005 155 
Aug 2005 - 1.62 
Sep2005 162 
Oct 2005 1.61 
Nov 2005 1.60 
Dec 2005 1.60 
Jan 2006 - 160 
Feb 20O6 
Mar 2006 
Apr 7006 
May 7006 
Jun 2006 
JUI2006 
Aug2U06 
Sep 2006 
Oct 2006 
NOV2006 
Dec 2006 
Jan 2007 
Feb 2007 
Mar 2007 
Apr2007 
May 2007 
Jun 2007 
Jul 2007 
Aug2007 
Sep 2007 
Oct2007 
Nov 2007 
Dec 2007 
Jan 2006 
Feb 2008 
Mar 2008 
Apr2008 
May2008 
Jun 2008 
Jul 7008 
AugTOOa 
Sep7fl08 
0 0 2008 
Nov 2008 
Dec 2006 
Jan2009 
Feb2009 
Mar2009 
Apr2U09 
May2009 
Jun 2009 
Jul 2009 
Aug 2009 
Sep 2009 
Oct 2009 
Nov 2009 
Dec2009 
Jan 2010 
Feb 2010 
Mar 2010 
Apr 2010 

EPS Consensus Estimates as of December 31, 
ValueHeacler Q l Dee 2009 Q2 Mar 1010 

Median 0.76 0 71 
Mean 0 76 0 69 
Hign 0 79 0 78 
Low 071 059 
No of Analysis 23 14 
No. Est Up 0 0 
No Est Down 1 0 

FY 2006 
151 
1.52 
1.52 
1.52 
1.75 
1.77 
176 
1.82 
1.62 
1.81 
1.83 
185 
1.85 
1.85 
1.89 
2.15 
215 
2 21 
2.20 
2.20 
2 20 
2.25 
2 25 
224 
2 20 

2009 

Pf20O7 FYZOOe 
186 
1.67 
1.61 
1.71 
1.96 
200 
2 00 
2 10 
2.10 
209 
209 
208 
208 
209 
210 
259 
2.59 
262 
263 
2.55 
2.55 
258 
258 
256 
258 
257 
258 
246 
2 47 
2 48 
2.56 
256 
2 50 
2.54 
254 
2 52 
2 50 

217 

-
. 
• 

-
-
• 

-
-
• 

-
2 29 
2 29 
2 32 
2 53 
2.98 
298 
300 
292 
286 
286 
2.99 
2.99 
2.99 
2.92 
2.90 
3.00 
300 
3.02 
3.01 
3.08 
3.06 
296 
2.99 
299 
2 95 
2 93 
3.04 
348 
3.60 
3.60 
3.56 
3 55 
3.56 
3.60 
366 
3 66 
3.64 
353 

-
-
-
• 

. 
-
-
-
-
. 
-
-
. 
-
• 

FY 2009 

3.29 
3.26 
338 
340 
3.57 
3.57 
364 
364 
3.55 
356 
3 95 
3.46 
3.42 
3.50 
4.10 
4.18 
420 
4.23 
4 25 
4 25 
4.44 
4 26 
4.22 
3 81 
350 
313 
2 97 
293 
296 
2.61 
266 
2 86 
2 62 
2 85 
285 
2 85 
285 

. 

03 Jun 2010 O4Sep20fO LTGrowtf iN FY Dec 2009 
0 79 
0 79 
0 87 
0 70 

14 
0 
0 

0 86 11.55% 
0 87 11.53% 
097 13 00% 
08D 10.00% 

14 4 
0 0 
0 0 

2 85 
2 85 
289 
2 8t 

22 
1 
1 

FY 20*0 

-
-
. 
-
-
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
• 

-
-
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
-
. 
. 
. 
-
. 
. 
. 

3 73 
4.12 
4 69 
4 95 
495 
512 
512 
510 
531 
536 
519 
491 
408 
364 
3 47 
322 
3.30 
3.27 
3.Z7 
326 
3.25 
3.25 
3.25 
3 25 
3 26 
3.17 
3 20 
3.48 

FY 2011 

4.82 
540 
558 
559 
580 
605 
569 
561 
5.11 
4 51 
400 
384 
3.77 
378 
3.79 
3 77 

' 380 
3.83 
390 
390 
390 
390 
3.77 
3.80 
4.13 

FY Doe 2010 FY Dae 2011 
3 25 
3.26 
3 51 
2 92 

24 
1 
1 

390 
3 95 
4.50 
360 

17 
0 
0 

FY20»2 

5 22 
583 
6 18 
6.20 
6 73 
6 90 
6.48 
6 37 
6 01 
5 40 
4.78 
4 14 
4 17 
4 71 
3 99 
4 12 
4.12 
4 02 
484 
4.94 
494 
4 61 
430 
4 57 
490 

FY20»3 FV20J4 

-
-
. 
. 
-
-
. 
-
. 
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
• 

. 

. 
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
_ 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
. 
. 
-
. 
. 
. 
-
-
. 

538 
468 
4.68 
533 
5.10 
5.43 
5 43 
5 23 
5.61 
5.68 
568 
5.63 
5.53 6.36 
564 646 
6.02 6 90 

Consensus Estimates include options expenses per FASB 123(R) accounting change Consensus Estimales exclude aptior<s expenses as 
ma,oriiy ol enalvsts su'l exclude Ihsse expenses. Refer to mdividuel eralyst esnmetes to see status for each. 

Source. Thcrnson IBES 25 May 2010 



Historical ssUmates (or Norlttik Southern Corporation 
Issue: NSC (NYSE, NSC) 

EPS Historical Actuals 
FYOec2004 FYOec200S FY Dec 2008 FYDee2007 FY Dec 2008 FY Dec 2009 

2.16 2 82 3 97 3.73 4.54 2.76 
These numbers are as provided by majonty of analysts contnbuling esbmaies for this company and might vary from what the company has reported. 
Refer to company filings and press releases for actuals-as reported numbers 

Month FY2a04 FY2005 FY200S 
Jan 2005 2.16 2.52 2.85 
Feb2005 2 5 
Mar 2005 
Apr 2005 
May 2005 
Jun 2005 
Jul 2005 
Aug 2005 
Sep 2005 
Oct 2005 
Nov 2005 
Dec 2005 
Jan 2006 
Feb 2006 
Mar 2006 
Apr 2006 
May 2006 
Jun^UU6 
Jul 2006 
Aug 2006 
Sep 2006 
0 0 2006 
Nov 2006 
Dec 2006 
Jan 2007 
Feb 2007 
Mar 2007 
Apr 2007 
May 2007 
Jun 2007 
Jul 2007 
Aug 2007 
Sep 2007 
Oct 2007 
Nov 2007 
Dec 2007 
Jen 2008 
Feb 2006 
Mar 2008 
Apr 2008 
May 2008 
Jun 2008 
Jul 2006 
Aug 2008 
Sep 2008 
OCI2008 
Nov 7008 
Dec 2008 
Jan 2009 
Feb 2009 
Mer2009 
Apr2009 
May 2009 
Jun 2009 
Jul 2009 
Aug 2009 
Sep 2009 
002009 
Nov 2006 
Dec2009 
Jan 2010 
Feb 2010 
Mar 2010 
Apr 2010 

2.82 
2 50 2.82 
2.50 2 83 
2.50 2.85 
250 285 
250 285 
2.69 3 05 
27 
27 

3.06 
3.09 

2 70 3.12 
2 70 314 
2.70 3.15 

3.26 
325 
336 
344 
3.48 
348 
3.35 
3.35 
3.33 
3.61 
3 59 
358 

-
. 

. 

. 

. 
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
. 
. 
. 
-
-
. 
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
-
-
-

-
• 

-
-
-
-
-

FY 2007 
3.04 
313 
317 
330 
3.31 
3 33 
330 
3.47 
3 47 
3.52 
3.55 
355 
3.58 
3.73 
3.87 
3.90 
3.98 
4.00 
400 
3 75 
3.70 
3 70 
4.00 
400 
4.00 
3 97 
395 
3 85 
3.84 
3.83 
375 
3.83 
3 81 
3 71 
369 
3.62 
360 

FY 2000 
3 02 

3 69 
3.89 
400 
4.23 
4.38 
4.34 
4.30 
430 
4.13 
4.11 
4.08 
4.50 
4.50 
4.50 
4.35 
4.35 
4.31 
4.30 
4.30 
4.30 
4.30 
4.30 
4 07 
4.00 
3.08 
396 
400 
4.00 
402 
4 07 
405 
404 
4.32 
434 
435 
4.55 
4 55 
4 51 

FY 2009 

5 03 
496 
484 
4 85 
486 
4.82 
4 82 
4 86 
4.77 
4 74 
4.70 
4.67 
4.49 
4.54 
454 
4.55 
4 65 
4.62 
4.62 
4.91 
4.91 
4.88 
500 
4.57 
4 46 
409 
3.90 
3.72 
3 27 
3.19 
300 
2 76 
2.75 
2 78 
2.80 
2.60 
2.79 

. 
-
-

FY 2010 

-

-
-
. 

4 47 
505 
506 
5.03 
5 25 
5 25 
5 25 
555 
5.57 
555 
550 
5 25 
4 98 
4.65 
450 
4 20 
3 69 
3 66 
3.60 
3 45 
345 
3 45 
3 43 
3 43 
3.40 
3 27 
334 
3.35 

FY 2011 

-
. 
. 
-
-
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
_ 
_ 

530 
558 
5.59 
5.59 
590 
613 
6.13 
603 
564 
549 
477 
488 
446 
4.11 
4.00 
306 
4.08 
409 
4.04 
4.00 
400 
400 
398 
399 
4.08 

FY 2042 

5.68 
6 03 
6.13 
613 
6.39 
6 80 
6 60 
6 63 
6.20 
8.70 
6 08 
5 71 
5 47 
4 74 
4 43 
435 
439 
462 
4.99 
500 
500 
5.00 
460 
465 
4.75 

F Y 2 0 « FY20M 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 
. 

. 

. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 

. 

. 
_ 
. 
. 
. 
. 

. 

. 

. 

. 
_ 
. 
. 
. 
_ 
. 
. 
. 
. 
-
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 

690 
649 
6 26 
5.39 
5 35 
5 25 
5.22 
5 70 
5.69 
568 
568 
568 
5.62 6.37 
5.72 645 
581 655 

EPS Consensus Estimates as o l December 31.2009 
VsfusHeader 04 Dee 2009 02 Mar 2010 Q3 Jun 2010 04 Sep 2010 LT Growth % FY Doc 2009 FY Dec 2010 FY Dee 2011 

Median 
Mean 
High 
Low 
No. of Analysts 
No Est Up 
No Est Down 

064 
084 
0.90 
0 79 

23 
0 
t 

064 
064 
0 76 
052 

14 
0 
0 

0 76 
0 78 
098 
0 71 

14 
0 
0 

0.96 1200% 
0.86 10 76% 
1.01 1500% 
0.91 2 80% 

14 5 
0 0 
0 0 

2.80 
280 
2 85 
2 75 

21 
0 
1 

343 
3.41 
380 
2.95 

24 
0 
1 

4 00 
4 03 
4.75 
330 

18 
0 
0 

Consensus Estimates induds options expenses per FASB 123(R) accounting change. 

Source- Thomson IBES 25 May 2010 



Historical estimates fbr Union Pacific Corporation 
issue: UNP (NYSE, UNP) 

EPS Historical Actuals 
FYDecZ009 FY Dee 2006 FYOee200T FY Dee 2008 FY Dee 2009 

1.71 296 346 4.54 3 60 
These numbers are as provided by majority ol analysts contribuilng estimates for Uiis compeny and might vary from what the company has reported. 
Refer to company filings and press releases for acluals-as reported numbers. 

EPS Median historical asUniatas (annual series) 
Month FY200< FY200I FY 2006 Fy2007 FY200» 

Jan2005 1.43 183 246 307 
Feb 7005 1.54 2.25 2.85 
Mar 2005 1.56 2.25 2.75 
Apr 2005 162 2.33 2 78 
May 2005 • 167 2.35 2.75 
Jun 2005 • 167 2.30 2 79 
JUI2005 • 165 226 2.69 
Aug 2005 1.70 2.38 2.77 
Sep200S 170 238 277 
0 0 2005 167 2 38 2.75 
Nov2a05 164 2.33 273 
Dec2005 164 235 273 
Jan 2006 
Feb 2006 
Mar 2006 
Apr2006 
May 2006 
Jun 2006 
Jul 2006 
Aug 7006 
Sep2006 
0O2006 
Nov 2006 
Dec2006 
Jan 2007 
Feb 2007 
Mar 2007 
Apr 2007 
May 2007 
Jun 2007 
Jul 2007 
Aug2007 
Sep2007 
0 0 2007 
Nov 2007 
Dec20O7 
Jan 2008 
Feb 2008 
Mar 7008 
Apr 2008 
May2008 
Jun 2008 
Jul 2006 
Aug2008 
Sep 2008 
0 0 2008 
Nov 2008 
Dec 2008 
Jan 2009 
Feb 2009 
Mar 2009 
Apr 2009 
May2U09 
Jun 2009 
Jul 2009 
Aug 2009 
Sep 2009 
0O2009 
Nov 2009 
Dec 2009 
Jen 2010 
Feb 2010 
Mar 2010 
Apr 2010 

EPS Consensus Estimates as of December 31 

Median 103 0 85 
Mean 103 0 84 
High 1.09 0.95 
Low 0 94 0.70 
No ofAnalysIs 23 12 
No EslUp 1 0 
No EslDown 0 0 

2.36 2.88 
2.40 288 
252 2.98 
254 307 
263 320 
2.64 3.23 
2.65 3 22 
2.79 3.33 
2.80 3.33 
2.8 335 
2.85 3.36 
2.85 3.36 
2.65 3.37 

,2009 
03 Jun 2010 

0.98 
0.97 
1.10 
0.85 

13 
0 
0 

3.41 
3.41 
3.42 
3.43 
3.42 
3.40 
3.40 
3.40 
3 39 
3.51 
3.42 
3.40 

FY 2009 
369 

• 

. 
-
-
• 

-
• 

-
. 
. 

346 
3 28 
334 
346 
346 
3.76 
3.79 
3.79 
3.92 
392 . 
3.90 
3.90 
3.90 
3.90 4.78 
3.9 446 
393 4.58 
3.94 4 58 
3.96 4.76 
3.9S 
3.99 
3.99 
3.99 
397 
417 
4.1C 
4.1C 
4.IC 
4 07 
4.09 
411 
4 07 
4.07 
4.20 
4.24 
4.37 
459 
4 59 
4 51 

04 Sep 2040 LrGrowth K 
1.19 1310% 
1.20 13 22% 
1 35 15.00% 
110 10 00% 

13 5 
0 0 
0 0 

4 72 
4.71 
4.66 
4.77 
4.83 
5.03 
4.95 
4 91 
4 78 
4 78 
4.78 
4 85 
SOO 
5.01 
5.11 
5 15 
5 18 
520 
5.00 
4 74 
4.29 
4 15 
3.95 
3 89 
3.80 
3.67 
360 
3 57 
356 
356 
3 55 
356 

. 

. 
• 

FY Dec 2069 
3.55 
3.55 
3.61 
3.46 

21 
1 
0 

FY 2040 

550 
5.86 
5 52 
5.53 
544 
6.49 
649 
6 41 
6 36 
636 
6.27 
5 87 
550 
5.05 
4.BS 
4.55 
440 
4.35 
4.35 
4 25 
4.25 
4 25 
4 25 
4 24 
4 25 
4.24 
4.29 
4.40 

FY Doe 2010 
4 24 
4.20 
4.57 
380 

24 
0 
2 

FY 2044 

603 
6.03 
588 
7.47 
7.47 
7 67 
7.54 
7.59 
6.88 
6.15 
6.10 
5.50 
5 25 
505 
5xa 
5.05 
457 
4.95 
4.84 
4.92 
4 89 
4.93 
4.97 
498 
509 
5 20 

FY Dec 2014 
4 93 
4 93 
5 85 
426 

18 
1 
0 

FY 2042 

_ 
-
. 
. 
• 

. 

. 

. 

. 
_ 
. 
. 
. 
_ 
_ 
. 
. 
. 
. 
. 
_ 
_ 
. 
. 
_ 
. 

654 
6.54 
638 
884 
884 
898 
8 97 
8 97 
8.22 
7 51 
685 
6.47 
612 
580 
6.17 
556 
5 56 
549 
5.49 
625 
5.91 
5.91 
591 
567 
5.80 
6.00 

FY 204 J FY 2044 

731 
691 
645 
703 
6.96 
696 
6.85 
6.85 
7 23 
684 
684 
6.84 
6.82 7.76 
6.73 7.63 
7.22 8.16 

Consensus Estimales include options expenses per FASB I23(R) accounting change.Consensus Esllmales exclude options expenses as 
majorily of analysis sill exclude these expenses. Refer to individual analyst estimates lo soo status (or each. 

Source' Thomson IBES 25 May 2010 
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692 ACQUISITIONS ANO TAKEOVERS 

The acquiring firm offers a price higher rhan the target firm's market price prior to 
the acquisition and invites stockholders in the target firm to tender (heir shares for 
the price. 

In both friendly and hostile acquisitions, the difference between the acquisition 
price and the market price prior to the acquisiuon is called the acquisition pre­
mium. The acquisition price, in the context of mergers and consolidations, is the 
price that will be paid by the acquiring firm for each of the target firm's shares. This 
price is usually based on negotiations between the acquiring firm and the target 
firm's managers. In a tender offer; it is the price at which the acquiring firm receives 
enough shares ro gair. control of the target firm. This price may be higher than the 
initial price offered by tbe acquirer, if there are other firms biddijag for the same tar­
get firm or if an insufficienr number of stockholders tender at that initial price. For 
instance, in 1991 AT&T initially offered to buy NCR for $80 per share, a premium 
of $25 over the stock price at the time of the offei: AT&cT ulcimatel>- paid $11Q per 
share to complete the acquisition. 

There is one final comparison that can be made, and char is between the price 
paid on the acquisition and the accounting book value of the equity in the firm be­
ing acquired. Depending on how the acquisition is accounted for, this difference 
wiU be recorded as goodwill on the acquiring firm's books or not be recorded at 
alt. Figure 25.2 presents the breakdown ofthe acquisition price into these compo­
nent parrs. 

T 
Acquisition 
Premium 

i 
Goodwill 

T 
Book Value 
of Equity 

Acquisition Price of Tai:get Rrm 

Market Price of Target Firm Prior 
to Acqiii.<titjon 

Book Value or Equity of 
Targei Firm 

FI6URE 2B.2 Breaking Down the Acquisition Price 
Source: Corporate Finence: Theory and Praetiee, Seconti Edition, by Aswatb Damndaiaa, 
copyright © 2001 hy John Wiley ic Sons, Inc. This m&tcrial is used by permission of john 
Wiley Se Sons, Inc. 
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CHAPTER l i Corporate Financins and the Six Lessons Of Market Efflciency ^ ^ 

Relative stock return = return on stock - return on market inde.\-

f fhis (s almost certainly better than simply looking at the returns on the stock. How-
i ever, if you are concerned with performanctr over a period of several months or 
fieats, it could be preferable to recognize that fluctuations in the market have a 
;] i i^ effect on some stocks than others. For example, past experience might sug-
%^tthal a change in the market index affected tlie value of a stock as follows: 

^̂ j,' Expected stock return =• a + p X return on market index* 
r " 
•iUpha (a) states how much on average the slock price changed when the market 
Ĥdex was unchanged. Beta (p) tells us how much extra the stock price moved for 
'a^ ' l percent change in the market indesf-' Suppose that subsequently the stock 
;smceprovides a retum of ? in a month when Uie market retum is ?„. In that case 
îwe would conclude that the abnormal retum for that month is 
i , 

Abnormal stock return = actual stock return - expected slock return 
[-. =r-(o( + pr„) 

i niifabnormal return abstracts from the fluctuations in the stock price that result 
^ kotn marketwide influences.^ 

Figure 13.5 illustrates how the release of news affects abnormal returns. The 
i,''gî ph shows the price run-up of a sample of 194 firms that were targets of takeover 
'̂̂ lecnpts. In most takeovers, the acquiring firm is willing to pay a large premium 

|f«verrt\ecurrent market price of Ihe acquired firm; therefore when a firm becomes 
^ (he target of a takeover attempt, its stock price increases in anticipation of the 
1. takeover premium. Figure 13.5 shows thai on the day the public become aware of 
'»takeover attempt (Day 0 in the graph), die stock price of the typical target takes 
.).bi.; upward jump. The adjustment in stock price is immediate: After the big price 
jsntve on the public announcement day, the run-up is over, and there is no fiuther 
Srifi in the stock price, either upward or downward.' Thus withm tlie day, the new 
; | ^ prices apparently reflect (at least on average) the magnitude of the takeover 
'jHEmium. 

Astudy by Patell and Wolfson shows just how fast prices move when new in-
^dtion becomes available.'^ They found that, when a fum publishts ils latest 
eunings or announces a dividend change, the major part of the adjustment iii price 
ftxurs within 5 to 10 minutes of the announcement. 

I^FiiisKlaiionship is vUm\ trferred to tis the market ml̂ Jel 
. 'î 'j>mpi>naiit when estimating a and p that you choose a period in which you believe that th« stock 
^. khaviid noimiiUy. li its performattcc wa.s abnormal, \lnen esiiirintes of a and p cannot bp used to mca-
y ieie dte Nlurns thai ini'i'stotTs expected. As a pK-caution, ask yoursnU whether your estimates of e\-
V (wied returns look sensible. Methods {orestimatingabrvormal leturns ate analyzed in A.C. MncKJtnlay, 
V f.(i^tStudies in Economics anil Knance," foumal ofEcpnomic Liieralure 35 (1997), pp. 13-39. 

I ftiemarliEt is not the onl} cominun inOuenceon stiKk prions. For example, in Seclion 8,4 we desuibtd 
.̂ ft<.>r«uia -Ficnch thiea-factor model, whidi stjtes that a stock's return is influenced by ttuee cnmmnn 
I iicUin—the market factor, a size factor, and a honk-to-market factor, tn this case we would ccitrulate the 
• Wpta-'dslCCkietUmaSi: -̂  i'm!AM<r„„v„,jt,Tr) * I'rfa^f.iMl.tl,) + b|>»H.i»nMrl.i{'h«V*Hn:iVnf.iB-)-
^ ^ A . Keo^v^ and J. Pinkcrton, "MerKGr Announcenwnts and Insider Trading Activity," Journal of Fi-

E^3i>(September IIS!), pp. 655-Sfa9. Nate ih-it prices on the days before llie public druiuunccment do 
d<BV\ evidence of a sustained upwani drift. TlUs is evidence of a gradual leakage of infomiation about 

;-|jlCbibletakeovCi ailempt. 

r'Su}. M Patell aruj M. A. Wolfcon, "Ihe Inlraday Speed of Adjustment ofStock Prices tc Earnings and 
5ivJiS!d Arjiouncpmenls," lourtal o/ftnatifuil Economies 13 Ourie 1954), pp. 223-252. 
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fIGURE 13.5 

The performance of the stocks of target companies compared with that of the market. The prices of target 
stocks jump up on the announcement day, but from then on, there are no uniisual price movements. The 
announcement of the takeover attempt seems to bo fglly r^edad in the stock price on the announcement day. 

Source: A. Keown and J. Pinkerton, "Morger Anneuncemants and Insidor Tiading Activity," Jaumel of Fmante 36 
(Soptember 19Biy, pp. 855-869. Rspdnted with pemilssion of Blackwail Publishers Journal Rights. 
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IE 

i 

Tests of the strong form of the hypothesis have examined the rtnTommenti.irionsof i 
professional security analysis and have looked for mutual funds or pension fimds | 
that could predictably outperfoiin the market. Some researchers have found A sligjir | 
persistentoutpcrfonnance.but just as many have concluded that profes<<iona]ly nun- (-
aged funds fail to recoup the costs of management. Look, for example, at Figure 13/, j 
which is taken from a study by Mark Carliart of tlie average return on nearly 1,503 i 
U.S. mutual funds. You can sec that in some years the mutual funds beat Ihp niftrtai, . 
but as often as not il was the other way around. Figure 13.6 provides a fairly ciuilf 
comparisori, for muhial funds have tended to specialize in parliciilnr Sfctors of He 
market, such as low-beta stocks or large-finn stocks, tlial may have given bclnw-
average returns. To control for such difference.s, tiacli fund needs tobecoinp.iatl wiih 
a bendimark portfolio of similar securities. The shidy liy .Mark Carhe rl did tin-:, but ' 
the message was unchanged: Tlie funds enmeri a lower return Ih.m the beiuhmaiii . 
portfolios nfler expenses and rougWy matched the benchmarks /v/nr.' ex,pen.<a>.s. ; . 
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Kansas City Southern 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—'(Continued) 

llie following tables (in millions) provide information by geographic area in accordance with the 
accounling guidance on segment reporting: 

Vcars hLndKl Dei 'einhcr 31 

2IM>9 2008 2007 

Revenues 

U.S S (564.2 Sl.033.6 S 929.6 
fvlexico 616.0 818.5 813.2 

Total revenues $1.480.2 SI.852.1 SI.742.8 

Years Ended 
Ptfemlier 31 

2009 2008 

Property and equipment (including concession assets), net 

U.S $2,501.2 S2.342,1 
Mexico 2.246.0 2.256.3 

Total property and equipment (including concession assets), nei S4.747.2 S4.598.4 

Note 18. Subsequent Event 

Fuel Denvaiive Transact ions. In anticipation of future increases in diesel fuel prices, the Company 
entered into fuel swap agreements in the first quarter pf 2010 to hedge 22.6 million gallons of dieiiel fuel 
purcha<ies through the end of 2010 at an average swap price per gallon of S2.22. 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through February 11. 20IU. the date that these financial 
Statements were i.ssued and determined thai no additional subsequent events occurred that would require 
additional recognition or disclosure. 
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Kansas City Snuthem 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued) 

The role of each region is tn manage the operational activities and monitor and control costs over the 
coordinated rail network. Such cost control is required to ensure that pre-established efficiency standards set at 
the c'orporeu; level are anained. The regional activity centers are responsible for executing the overall 
corporate strategy and operating plan established by corporate management as a coordinated system. 

The. following tables (in millian.K) provide information by geographic area pursuant to Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 131. "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Informa­
tion" ("SFAS 131") as follows: 

Vearii Ended December i t 

2008. 2007 2006 

Revenues 

U.«: $1,033.6 S 929.6 $ 8S5.7 

Mexico 818.5 813.2 774.0 

Total revenues Sl,852.l SI.742.8 SI.659.7 

Years Ended 
[htcemlicr 31 

200S 2007 

Long-lived Assets 

U.S $2,342.1 S2.O45.0 

Mexico '2.245.8 2.088.3 

Total long-lived assets S4.587.9 S4.I33.3 

Note 17. Subsequent Event 

Fiiiil Derivative Transactions. In anticipation of future increases in diesel fuel prices, the Company 
entered into several fuel swap agreements in January 2009 to hedge 8.8 million gallons of diesel fuel 
purcha.ses through the end of 2009 at an average swap price per gallon of $1.76. 
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IS Segmented information The following tables provide information by geograpnic area: 

The Company manages its operations as one business segment 

over a single network that spans vast geographic distances and 

territories, vA^ opeiations in Canada and the United States. 

Financial information reported at this level, such as revenues, 

operating Income, and cash flow from operations, is used by 

corporate management, including the Company^ chief operat­

ing decision-maker, in evaluating financial anci operational per­

formance and allocating resources across CN's network. 

The Company^ strategic Initiatives, which titive its opera­

tional direction, are developed and managed centrally by corpo­

rate management and are communicated to its regional activity 

centers (the \i'Vestern Region, Eastern Region and Southern Re­

gion). Corporate management is responsible for, among others, 

CN'!s marketing strategy, the management of large customer ac­

counts, overall planning and control of infrastruaure and rolling 

stock, the allocation of resources, and other functions such as 

financial planning, accounting and treasury. 

The role of each region is to manage the day-to-day sen/ice 

requirements within their respeaive territories and conuol direct 

costs incurred locally. Such cost control is required to ensure that 

pre-established efficiency standards set at the corporate level 

are met. The regions execute the overall corporate strategy and 

operating plan established by corporate management, as their 

management of throughput and control of direct costs does 

not serve as the platform for the Companyls decisfcn-making 

process. Approximately 91 % of the Company^ freight revenues 

are from national accounts for which freight traffic spans North 

America and touches various commodity groups. As a result, the 

Company does not manage revenues on a regional basis since a 

large number of the movements originate in one region and pass 

through and/or terminate in another region. 

The regions also demonstrate common characteristics in each 

of the following areas: 

(i) each region^ sole business activity is the transportation of 

freight over the Company's extensive rail network; 

(iO the regions service national accounts that extend over the 

Company^; various commodity groups and across its rail net-

*vork; 

(iii) the sennces offered by the Company stem predominantly 

from the transportation of freight by rail with the goal of 

optimizing the rail network as a whole; 

(iv) the Company and its subsidiaries, not its regions, are subject 

to single regulatory regimes in both Canada and the U.S. 

In millions )^dr ended December 31. 2009 2008 2007 

Kemnues"! 

Canada S 4.971 t S.632 S 5.265 
U.S. 2.396 2.850 2.632 

S 7,367 $ 8.482 $ 7,897 

(DferihttearenilidDectniberil. 70O9. ene aisemtrtemesenadippraimaielf 3% 
ot com menuss (ai>i>rcMmauly 2% and 3% b iheyw i mdM Decwnter 31, 2008 
and 2007, resneainelH. 

hmWions Mat ended December 31 . 

Net income 

2009 2008 2007 

Canada 

U.5 

InmiUkms 

Properties 

Canada 

US. 

S 1.691 

163 

S 1,854 

December J f, 2009 

S 12.778 

9.852 

S 22.630 

S 1,507 

388 

i 1.895 

2008 

S 12,377 

10,826 

t 23,203 

S 1,706 

452 

S 2,158 

16 Earnirtgs per share 

ybar ended December 31. 2009 2008 2007 

Basic earnings per share I 3,95 S 3.99 S 4.31 

Diluted earnings per share S 3.92 S 3.95 I 4.25 

The following table provides a reconciliation between basic 

and diluted earnings per share: 

In millions 'Hear ended December 31. 2009 2008 2007 

Net Income S 1.854 S 1.895 I 2.158 

Waghted-average shares outs-jnding 

Effect of stock options 

outstanding 

469.2 

4.3 

473.5 

474.7 

5.3 

480 0 

5012 

68 

508.0 

For the years ended December 31,2009, 2008 and 2007, tiie 

weighted-average number of stock options that were not includ­

ed In the calculation of diluted earnings per share, as their in­

clusion would have had an anti-dilutive impaa. were 0.4 million, 

0.3 million and 0.1 million, respectively. 

For the reasons mentioned herein, the Company reports as 

one operating segment. 

us GAAP 





Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

The fol lowing tables provide information by geographic area: 

In millions Year ended Decmber 11. 2008 2007 2006 

Rempues 

Canada 

U.S 

Inivi i r ions 

Net income 

Canada 

U.S. 

In mill ions 

S5.632 

2.850 

i8 ,4B2 

Year ended December J l , 2008 

S1.507 

388 

S1,89S 

December V . 

S 5,265 

2,632 

i 7.897 

2007 

S 1,706 

452 

S 2.158 

2008 

S 5.293 

2.636 

S 7.929 

2006 

I 1,671 

416 

t 2.087 

2UD7 

Properties 

Canada 

US. 

S12,377 

10,826 

$11,777 

8,636 

$23,203 S20,4I3 

o Earnings per share 

Year enikd Decemba 31, 2008 2D07 

Basic eainingi pet shaie 

Diluted eamirgs per fhaie 

S 3,99 

S 3,95 

i 4,31 

t 4.25 

2006 

S 3.97 

S 3.91 

The fol lowing table provides a reconciliation between basic and 

diluted earnings per share: 

In mil l ions Year ended December 3 1 . 

Nel income 

Wcighted-avetage t h a i n outstanding 

Effect o l stock options 

Weighted-average di luted s lates outstanding 

2003 

51,895 

474.7 

5.3 

480.0 

2007 

S2,1S8 

501.2 

6.8 

5 0 8 0 

2006 

S2.087 

525.9 

B.4 

534.3 

For the yeais ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. the 

weighted-average number of stock options that were not induded in 

the calcula:ion of diluted earnings per share, as iheli inclusion would 

have had an antl-dilutive impact, were 0.3 mil l ion, 0.1 mill ion and 

0,2 mill ion, lespectively. 

^ M Major comin l tmen ts and cont ingencies 

A. Leases 

rhe Company has operating and capital leases, mainly for locomotives, 

freight cars and inierinodal equipment. Of the capital leases, many 

provide the option to purchase the leased items at fixed values during 

or at the end of the lease term. As at December 31.7008, the Company's 

commitments undei these operating and capital leases were S876 million 

and SI,S37 mill ion, tespeaively. IMinimum rental payments for operating 

leases having init ial non-cancelable lease terms of one year or more and 

minimum lease payments for capital leases in each of the next five years 

and thereafter are as follows: 

fti millions 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 and Iheieafiei 

I p e r a t i n g 

SIE6 

I]<1 

112 

87 

65 

312 

5876 

Capita l 

S 207 

158 

199 

96 

I4S 

1.032 

1,83? 

leii-imputed ineiett on capital leases at rates ranging froni 
appio>iniaidY2.l'ili to 7.91t 525 

Present value a! minimum lease payments IncUtded in debt Sl,31> 

The Company also has operating lease agreements for Its automotive-

fleet w i th minimum one-year non-cancelable terms for which its p iaaice 

is to renew monthly thereafter. The estimated annual rental payments 

for Such leases are approximately S3D million and generally extend over 

five years. 

Rent expense for all operating leases was S202 million, S207 million 

and S202 million for the years ended December 31 , 2008.2007 and 2006, 

respectively. Contingent rentals and sublease lehtals were not significant. 

B. Other commi tmen ts 

As at December 3 1 , 2008, the Company had commi:ments to acquire 

railroad ties, rail, freight cars, locomotives, and other equipment and 

sen/Ices, as v^ell as outstanding information technology service contraas 

and licenses, at an aggregate cost of SI,006 mill ion. The Company also 

has agreements wi th fuel suppliers to purchase approximatefy 82% of 

the estimated 2009 volume and 3 2 % of its anticipated 2010 

volume, at market prices prevailing on the date of the purchase. 

C. Cont ingencies 

The Company becomes involved, from time to time, in various legal anions 

seeking compensatoiy, and occasionally punitive damages including 

anions brought on behalf of vaiious purported classes of claimants and 

claims relating to personal injuries, occupational disease, and propeny 

damage, arising out of harm to individuals or property allegedly caused 

by deiallments or othei acddents. 

Canada 

Employee injuries are governed by the workers' compensation legislation 

in each province whereby employees may be awarded either a lump 

sum or futuie stream of payments depending on the nature and severity 

of the injuiy. Accordingly, the Company accounts for costs related to 

employee wqrk-ipUtpd injuries based on actuarially developed estimates 

of the ultimate cost associated wi th such injuries, induding compensation, 

health care and third-party administration costs, For all other legal actions, 

the Company maintains, and regutaily updates on a case-by-case basis, 

provisions for such items when the expected loss is both probable and 

can be reasonably estimated based on currently available infoimation 

U S. GAAP CanadkHi NailonX Rtulwaf Company 83 
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GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

(in millions of Canadian dollars) Canada 

3,075.9 

8,080.7 

3,314.6 

7,954.4 

3,716.4 

7.582.2 

United States 

S 1.227.3 

S 3,887.1 

5 1,117.0 

S 4,430? 

S 991.2 

S 1.535.5 

Total 

i 4,303.2 

S 11,967.8 

S 4,931.6 

S 12,384.6 

S 4,707.6 

S 9.117.7 

2009 
Revenues 

Net properties 

2008 (Restated Note 2! 

Revenues 

Net properties 

2007 (Restated Note 2) 

Revenues 

Net Propemes 

CP's principal subsidiaries pre.sent unconsolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounling praaices (or lailways 
as piescribed in the regulations of the Canadian Transportation Agency and the Surface Transportation Board in the United States. As part of 
ihe Company's consolidation process, CP's subsidiaries' unconsolidated accounts have been adjusted from these regulatory accounting bases to 
Canadian GAAP. 

The condensed income staiemeni and balance sheet information, vuhich follows, indudes the Canadian operations prepared in accordance with 
tne Uniform Classification of Accounts issued by the Canadian Transportation Agency. The changes required to consolidate the Company's 
operations are identified as consolidating entnes. 

CONSOLIDATING INFORMATION - 2009 

(In millions of Canadian dollars) 

Revenues 

Operating expenses 

Canada 

$ 3.072.1 

2,479.6 

United States 

S 1,227.3 

960.4 

Other 
countries 

$ 

Consolidating 
entries Total 

5 3.8 S 4,303.2 

(36.9) 3,403.1 

Revenues less operating expenses 

Net inteiesi expense, other income and charges, gain on 
sales of partnership interest and significant properties 
and loss on termination of lease with shortline railway 

Income lax expense 

592.5 

(35.6) 

60.0 

266.9 

88.2 

62.0 

136.4 

1.5 

40.7 

(2.8) 

(22.0) 

900.1 

186.2 

101.5 

Net income (loss) 

Cunent assets 

Net properties 

Other long-tenri assets 

Total assets 

Current liabilities 

Long-term liabilities 

Shareholders' equity 

Total liabilities and shareholders' squity 

S 568.1 

S 1,183.8 

6,096.0 

3,140.0 

S 10,419.8 

S 1,162.6 

5,710.1 

3,547.1 

S 10,419.8 

S 116.7 

S 472.5 

3,828.8 

241.0 

S 4,542.3 

S 228.4 

2.160.5 

2,153.4 

S 4.542.3 

S (137.9) 

$ 29.1 

-
1,364.8 

S 1,393.9 

$ 2.0 

(0.3) 

1.392.2 

S 1.393.9 

$ 65.5 

S (258.0) 

2,043.0 

(2,609.6) 

S (824.6) 

S (10.0) 

(427.9) 

(386.7) 

S (824.6) 

S 612.4 

S 1.427.4 

11,967.8 

2.136.2 

S 15,531.4 

S 1,383.0 

7,442.4 

6.706.0 

S 15,531.4 

100 
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Slocic Report I June 5,2010 | NVS Symbol: KSU | KSU is in Ihe S8P MidCap 400 STANOARD 
Kansas City Southern 

S&P Recafflfflendation | J S J I j | C 3 E 3 E 3 Price 
S3E.75l»«l Jun «. 20101 

12-Mo.Tati|et Price 
S43.0D 

arpoirs 
Investment Style 
Mid-Cap Blend 

ISICS Sector Industrials 

Sub-industnr Railroads 

key Stock Stal ist ic i (taam SW vicfcui. 

Summary KSU is a holding company with railroad investments serving the central and south 
central U.S., nonheasiern and cnniral Mexico, and Panama. 

52-VV1( Range 
Trailing 12-Manth EPS 
Trailing 12-Month P/E 
S10K Invested S Yrs Ago 

S42.32-14.75 S&P Opei. EPS 2010E 
S1.03 S&P0per.EPS2011E 
35.7 P/EanS&POper.EPS2010E 

S18,193 Common Shares Outstg. IM) 

1.50 
133 
24.5 
96.7 

Market CapitalizationiBI 
Yield ( V I 
Dividend Rate/Share 
Institutional Ownership |%) 

S3.S54 
Nil 
Nil 
S3 

Beta 
S&P3-Yr.Proi.EPSCAGR|%) 
S&P Credit Rating 

1.46 
10 
B 

Price P e i t o m m c e Qualitative Risk Assessment 

30-Waelc Mov. Ai^). • • • IO.Week Mov, A«g. - -• GAAP Eoming* i t . Prav ln ia Yoar Voluma Abova Avg.liU STARS 

12-Ma Targei Pncr " ^ ftelalive Suengtfi — A Up • Oown ^ No Change a e l i w A v g . l i ' j ^ 

, ^ ^ ^ 5 ? ^ ? ' ' ^ ^ ^ -.• 

» J * , j * 

J F M A M J J A S O N O J P M A M J J A S O N O I F M A M J J A S O N O J F M A U J I * 

2007 2008 2009 2010 

Analysis prepared fay Kevin Kiikeby on May OS, 2010, when the stock traded al S 39.39. 

'DDUoncASEiCBO&P.Ph 

Higtilighls 

- Ws forecast an 18% recovery in revenues dur­

ing 2010, following a 20% decline in 2009. About 

half of ihis increase is anributable to volumes 

as we anticipate increased production levels at 

facititias located along KSU's network, notably 

in Mexico. We expect auto-related goods and 

iniermodal to be the fastest-growing shipment 

categories. Price and mix, in our view, vuill con-

inbula the other nine percentage points of the 

increase. We believe KSU is benefiting from the 

recent renegotiation of older contracts, and in­

clusion of enhance:] fuel surcharge mecha­

nisms. 

- We oxpeci margins to widen in 2010 es volumes 
recover and average trip length increases KSU 
has been retiring old locomotives as new ones 
are out into sennce This is raising depreciation 
charges, but is expected to lower fuel con­
sumption as the new ones are considerably 
more efficient. 

>- Ruciuations in the Mexican peso relative to the 

U.S. dollar increase the volatilitv of KSU's earn­

ings. In early May 2010, KSU completed a sec­

ondary stock offering of 5 8 million shares, 

which would iiiciease shares outstanding by 

about 6% 

Investinenf Rationale/Risk 

> We see KSU focused on increasing revenue 
and network efficiency, contributing to nat in­
come growth o l about 13% annually over the 
next five years. Also, we look lor capital spend­
ing to slow following several years oi aggres­
sive investments, and KSU's capital structire to 
improve. As the economy and credit markets 
improve, we think investors will focus more on 
KSU's growth potential than its high leverage, 
including operating leases. We believe the 
stock should irode at a premium to historical 
average valuations, and above peers. 

> Risks to oui recommendation and target prica 
include lower-than-anticipated economic 
growth, a mora virulent outbreak of swine ' Iu, 
the buildout of other ports in Mexico to com­
pete with Lazaro Cardenas, and an unfavorable 
ruling in any legal disputes in Mexico. 

>- Our discounted cash f low model, assuming an 

) 1.5% cost of equny and 3 5% terminal growth, 

indicates mtnnsic value o l S36. Applying a P/E 

of 30X, which is above the ten-year averaee of 

26X, to our forward four-quarter earnings esti­

mate leads to a value of S49 Our 12-month tar­

get price of S43 reflects a neighred blend a' 

these metrics 

LOW HIGH 

Our risk assessment reflects what we see as 
KSU's exposure to economic cycles ond 
regulations in both the U.S. and Mexico, currency 
fluctuations, and a high level of debt. This is offset 
hy its diverse customer base and what we 
consider a histoncally solid generation of cash 
from its operations. 

OuantitativB Evaluations 

S&P Oualily Ranking B-

7^ A I ft» 

Relative Strength Rank 

iUUFiir I 

Revenua/Eemings Data 

Revenue IMi l l ion SI 

IQ 20 
4383 
346.0 3413 

MODERATE 

30 40 Year 

2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 
2008 
2005 

3B6.1 40B.8 
4S0.6 486 2 491.5 423.8 
411.3 427.1 444.1 460.3 
388.4 4131 
198.2 381 I 

415.7 442.4 
384.6 3881 

t.4B0 
1,852 
1,743 
1,660 
1,352 

Eamings Per Share IS) 

2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 

0.21 E0.38 E0.41 E0.39 EI.50 
-0.08 
0.39 
0.21 
0.11 
0.09 

0.07 
0.S6 
030 
0.24 

•0.33 

0 27 
0.52 
0.48 
0.32 
1.14 

033 
0.40 
0.65 
0.41 
003 

0 61 
186 
1.57 
108 
1.10 

Fiscal veaiendecDec.31. Haxi eanuigs lopsn axpcciofl' Laic 
July EPS Eiilmaios based on S&P Opariung Eamingi, hisioncal 
GAAP cainldBa are ai reponed 

Dividend Data 

Cash dividends were last paid in 2000 

Please read ihe Reqjired Disclosures and Analyst Certification on ihe last page ot Ihis report. 
Rad.sinbu:iGn ei lopioduc^an Is eiofnbued Miimui Hrinen pemission. Caovnghi^ailO 1*ie McGiaw-hill Companies, Inc 
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Kansas City Southern 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — i^Continucd) 

Liability Dt'rivutivtS 

Balance Sheet March 31. Uccember 31, 
Ucation 2010 2001) 

Derivatives designated as hedging instrument';: 

Accounts payable & 
Inieresi rate contracts accrued liabilities S3.9 S.1.2 

Other non-current 
liabilities & deferred 

Interesi rate contracts i • credits — 1.7 

Pbtal derivaiive.<t designated as hedging 
instruments 3.9 4.9 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments: 

Accounts payable & 
Fuel swap contracus accrued liabilities 0.2 — 

Total derivatives not designated as hedging 
Instruments 0.2 — 

Total liabilily derivatives $4,1 S4.9 

The following table presents the amoi^nts affecting the consolidutcd statement of operations for th&ihrte 
months ended March 31, (in inillions): 

Amount vt 
Rsln/(l.iLa) 

Ucrivi ihe, hi C u h R«ii|;nI<Ld In 
Flou lltdclnii UCI un Uerlvuiitt 
Rtlmlnnihlps iRITwIIVe Piirtlun) 

2UII) 2(HHI 

Interest rate contracts S((}.6) SlO.7) 

Fuel swap conuiicis — | 1 . ^ 

Tbtal S(0.6) t(2.3) 

DtrlvaUvi-i not dcili^ultd as 
htdijinK inainimiints 

Fuel swap coniracis 
Tutal 

LocHliiin fir 
Galn/ILud) 

Rccluiisincd Irom 
Accumuloicd flCI 

Into Incumc 
lEiTecUtr PDnlon) 

Aimiuni or 
Gain/iLiiuil 

Rccla&siried llruin 
Accumulaini OCI 

inlu Income 
(KITHUtr Punhinl 

Locution fit 
CainALou) 

Rern|;niTed In 
Inconiti un 
Ocrivativr 

llnvrTccllbc Porliun 
and Amount 

Rvcludrd 
rruni Eircct»cneu 

Ttsliniil 

Amount nr 
CtiaHLass) 

Hceuft&ui In 
Incumc un UcrlvaUvc 
(Intrrecllvc i>ortl»n 

dnd Aniounl 
Etdudcd 

rruni IKTcctlMfncis 
Tlailnsl 

Interest expense 

Fuel expense 

Lucailon nt 
Culn/ILossi 

RKot:nl«ed in 
liicumi: un 
tlcrisiili>£ 

20IU 

S(l.5) 

— 

1(1.5) 

2IIIMI 

SlD7) 

(0.2) 

S(0.9J 

Amount uf 
Galn/lLusi) 

Rccugnlii'd tn 
Incumc on 
Ucrivalive 

loieresi e.xpense 

Fuel l:.xpensc 

3IIII) 

"" 

S::: 

20O9 

s -
12.0) 

.S12.01 

Furl expense 

21IIU 

SO 3 
SOJ 

ilKW 

s -

7. Acquisition 

On March 3, 2010, the Company acquired an inlennodal tucility in Mexico. 'I'he aggregate purcha.<:e price 
for the intermodal facility wiis S25.0 million, which was funded by existing cash reserves. The Company has 
determined that the acquisition is not material to the Company's consolidated financial statements: therefore, 
pro forma financial information is not presented. In addition, the Company has made a preliminary purchase 
allocation as of iVIarch 31. 2010. bused î ii inconipjete valuations. The Company expects to complete the 
purchase valuation during the second quarter of 2010. 
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News Releases 
3/8/2010 C. Doniele Kane, B10-983-I372 

Kansas Gity Southern Accjiiires Puerta Mexico Intermodal Facility, Adds Direct Train Service 

Kansas City. Mc, March 8. 2010 - Kansas City Southern (KCS) (N'/SE: KSU) announced today that il has acquired the Puerta 
Mexico intermodal facility at Toluca in the State of Meidco. Later this month, Kansas City Southern de Mexico, S.A de C.V. 
(KCSM) will add direct tram service from Lazaro Cardenas lo Puerta Mexico, providing Mexico City import and export shippers 
wHh a serv«e altemative featuring improved consistency and reliability and l)etter uansil times. 

"Puerta Mexico is well-positioned on KCS' International Intermodal Corridor, making it a valuable enhancement for our cross 
border service offering," said David L. Starling KCS president and chief operating officer. 

KCS executive vice president sales and marketing Patrick J. Ottensmeyer, added that, 'The growth of manufacturing activity 
and international trade flows in the Mexico City area is increasing the demand for moderri, multi-modal terminals in Meidco's 
Industrial heartland. The strategic location and modern facilities at Puerta Mexico will allow KCS to better sen/e these growirtg 
markets." 

With its connection lo Ihe KCS rail network, Pueria Mexico serves Ihe Industrial centers of Mexico and the U.S., several 
important seaports and the Toluca-Mexico City industrial corridor. The facility provkles intermodal rail and truck services, 
warehouse storage and has the only Inland customs-clearing facility in the State of Mexico. 

In addition to train service, Puerta Mexico offers multi-modal terminal services and on-site customs and bonded warehousing 
facilities to ocean carriers, intermodal and other logistics service providers. Vfifri its direct access to KCSM's "N" line, Puerta 
Mexico will become the temiinal of choice for sen/ice to and from the central valley, the Port of Lazaro Cardenas and the border 
crossing at Nuevo Laredo/Laredo. With an estimated capacity exceeding 150,000 containers and two million plus tens of cargo 
per year on more than 130 developed acres, It essentially doubles the intennodal capacity available to Ihe greaier MeMcan 
central valley region and alleviates congestion In the region. 

'Since 1996, KCS has invested over S3 billon to expand and improve Mexico's rail infrastructure. The purchase of Puerta 
Mexico funher demonstrates KCS' commitment to Mexico and its institutions, the appeal of Mexican markets and the viability of 
direct foreign investrnent in Mexico," said KCSM president and executive representative Jose G. Zozaya. 'Puerta Mexico is a 
key link in KCS' International Intermodal Corridor, creating a continuous cycle of economic growth for Central Mexico." 

Headquartsred in Kansas Gity, Mo., KCS is a transportation holding company that has railroad invi>sinv>nts in the U S., Meidco 
and Panama. Its primary U S. holding is The Kansas City Southern Railway Company, sen/ing the central and south central 
U S. Its in:ematlonal holdings include KCSM serving northeastern and central Mexico and the port cities of Ulzaro Cdrdenas, 
Tampico and Veracruz, and a 50 percent interest in Panama Canal Railway Company, providing ocean-to-ocean freight and 
passenger sen/ice along the Panama CanaL KCS' North American rail holdings and strategic alliances are primary components 
of a NAFTA Railway system, linking the commercial and industrial centers ol the U S., Mexico and Canada 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 15th day of June 20101 have caused true and 

accurate copies ofthe foregoing Reply Comments ofthe Westem Coal Traffic League to 

be served upon all parties on the service list in this proceeding by first class mail, postage 

prepaid. 

Robert D. Rosenberg ^ ^ " 


